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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

PREMISE:

One of the tenets of 3 just society is the protection of individval righis. This basic
ponciple must be balanced with society's need to provide for the protection and security
of all its citizens. The Judicial Branch of government determines this balance,
maintaining this equilibrivm through its constant vigilance and adherence to the
protections provided by the Constitution. 1t is also the responsibility of a just and
civilized society to reasonably provide for the safety, security and custody of individuals
for whom our legal sysiem has determined eriminal guiit and remanded to the custody of

the Commonwealth.

Accordingly, correctional officials are charged with the responsibility to provide for the
care, custody, and control of inmates and must perform their duties with the ntmost
professionalism. Ail those who work m this field - from comrection officer to
Commissioner must demonsteate self-discipline, concern for the public’s safety, respect
for the rights of the confined, adherence to Department policies and the laws of the
Commonwezalth. It is imporiant that they exercise patience and temperance, balanced
with courage and fortitude. His or her ability to maittain order and control within a
prison enviroament serves the Commonwealth’s need for reasanable security and |

structured control of its inmate poputation.

. THE TRIGGERING EVENT:

On August 23, 2003 Inmate John Geoghan was murdered in his cell ar the Souza
Baranowski Correctional Center (SBCC) in Shirley, Massachusetts, by [nmate Joseph
Druce (afk/a Darrin Smiledge). " Inmate Geoghan was serving a 9-10 year sentence for
the indecent assault and battery of a child under 14 years-of-age. At the time of the
murder, both Inmates Geoghan and Diruce were hovsed in the Special Housing Unit
(SHU) J-1 block, at SBCC. The State Police Detectives Unit assigned to the Worcester
County District Atorney’s Office undertock a full and comprehensive homicide

" Fnmate Dartin Smiledge legally changed his name to Joseph Lee Druce in 1999,
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Investigation. That invesligation ultimateiy led to the indictment of Inmate Toseph Druce

for the murder of Inmate John Geoghan:

" THE COMMONWEALTH'’S RESPONSE:

As a resuit of the death of Inmate John Geoghan, Ma;ssachuselts.Secrelary of Public
Safety, Edward Flynn ordered the creation of a Panel and charged it with conducting an
administrative investigation into the facts and circumstances surrounding the events,

which led up to Tnmate Geoghan’s death.

At the time of Inmate John Geoghan's death, several complex and sericus questions were
raised which required investigators to detve into the Department of Cotrection’s overall
decision-making process regarding lnmates John Geoghan's and Toseph Drice’s
incarceration, classification, and suhsequcﬁl transfer to the SBCC J-1 Special Housing
Unit. Fusther, this Panel would examine the means and methods by which Inmaie Diruce

accessed [nmate Geoghan's cell and committed this crime.

SUMMARY ANSWERS TQ KEY QUESTIONS:

In response 1o the fotlowing key questions, the Panel arrived at the following answers:

1. What factors contributed to Inmate John Geoghan's death?

+ First, the assignment of both Inmate Geoghan and Inmate Druce 1o the SHU at SBCC
played an obvious and significant part, for without them both living in the same
housing unit, at the same rime, the opportunity for Inmate Druce to harm Inmate
Geoghan wouid have been averted. The two inmates, with different backgrounds and
ciminal histories, should not have been assigned to the same housing unit where they

would have direct contact with each other.

* Second, the policies and procedures for operating the SHU at SBOC (as well as the
SHU at MCI Concord) were based almost entirely on the court’s order in Blaney,
which, in our opinion gave unwarranted freedom of movetnent to prisoners in

brotective custody that constrained the artment’s ability to sufficiently protect
P ¥ ¥p



these prisoners. - As well intended as the court was in seeking to ensure that inmaies
_ in protective custody had the same program opportunities as other inmates in the
same prison, and as well intended as the Department was in trying to fulfil the
court's order, the unintended consequences of such decisions in this case placed in
harms way those the court was trying to protec, by aliowing inmates out of their cells

in groups.

s Third, the institutionalized practice at SBCC of “pulling” officers from housing units

to assist in major prisoner movements outside their housing units, in this case
“pulling” one of the two officers from the SHU fo supervise general population
inmates in the currid_c)r when 26 inmates were out of their cells, created a situation
that made it extraordinarily difficult for the one remaining officer to monitor the
inmates and supervise the on-going out-of-celi activities, which led directly to Inmate

Druce's ability to enter Inmate Geoghan's cell undetected.

» Fourth, the failure of the one remaining officer to follow the post orders to check each
cell after the inmates are locked in their cells, allowed Inmate Druce to remain
undetected for more than enough time to kill lnmmate Geoghan in Iomate Geoghan's
&éll, and conversely for Inmate Druce to be ﬁbsent from his own cell, where he should
kave been confined. Undoubtedly, inmate Druce had observed this practice on prior

eccasions and counted on it in his planning of the murder.

s Fifth, to a lesser extenl, the known ability of inmates to prevent siaff from opening

the cell doors in SBCC by obstructing the path thiough which the door was intended
to slide 1o the apen position also played a rele. In this instance, Inmate Druce took
this struciurat securitjx weakness into account in choosing Inmate Geoghan's cell as
the place to kifl him. It is the Panel’s opinion that Inmate Diruce knew that should he
be discovered in Inmate Geoghan's cell before he had killed him, he would have

sufficient time to finish the act before staff could open the celt door,

? Blaney v. Commissioner of Correction, 374 Mass. 337 (1978} (A civil case brought in 1974 by protective
custody inmates at MC1 Cedar Junction claming they were being confined in & punitive condition because

of their prolective $iatus.)

sma et UL UULALNG AIGUEREN O ANy other empluyee of the
Department, or any inmate, or any other person ever knew of Inmnate Druce’s

intention of harming Inmate Grnochan  Tnmars Timans actad alon ced . .



g

Was Inmate John Geoghan the subject of undue harassment or physical abuse at the
hands of correction officers at MC) Concord?

Yes. Inmate Geoghan was both unduly harassed and physically abused. Inmate
Geoghan received a disproportional number of trivial disciplinary reports compared
to other inmates incarcerated at MCE Concord and in particular within the MCI
Concord SBU. In addition, it is the Panel’s conclusion that on Tuesday, March 19-,
2002 Inmate Geoghan was the victim of physical abuse at the hands Cemrection
Dfﬁce- The facts clearly lead a reascnable person (o conclude that
—stmck Inmate Geoghan in the face in the strip-search area of the

visiting room at MCI Concord.

Were the Discipiine reparts received by Inmate John Geoghan at MC1 Concord faiely
issued and properly reviewed by institutional supervisors and managers? -

No. The disciplinary reports received by Iniate Geoghan were, at besit, minor in
nature, and at worse, over zealous and unwarranted. Supervisory staff lacked any
meaningful oversight of the process or qualitative review of ﬂiscipiinar;-,r reports
issued. Proper supervision, training and adherence to guidetines could have
prevented this accurnulation of disciplinary reports, which in many instances resulted

in no sanctions being imposed by the Disciplinary Hearing Officer.

. Was the classification process, which resulted in Inmate John Geoghan being

transterred to SBCC handled appropriately?

No. The entire transfer of Inmate Geoghan was controversiai among staff at MCI
Concord from the. start. The Classification Board recommended that Inmate Genghan
remain a Level 4 inmate at the MCI Concord SHU. The decision to reverse the
Classification Board's recommendaticn and recommend the tansfer of Inmate
Geoghan to a Level & institution (SBCC SHU) caused consternation among some of
the staff. The appeal process, as it applied to Inmate Geoghan, was flawed in its lack

of objectivity and thoroughness.



What role did Inmate Geoghan's disciplinary reports play in his transfer to SBCC?

A significant role. The number of Discipline reports was cited by MCI Concord
Deputy Superintendent Scott Anderson and by the Commissioner’s Designee Lori
Cresey as the primary factor in the reversal of the Classification Board’s

recommendation for Inmate Geoghan (0 remain at MCI Concord.

Shouid Inmate John G}éughan have been transferred to SBCC?

No. Based on the criteria used by the Department of Couection and in comparison to
the classification of othet inmates housed within the SBCC SHU, Inmate Geoghan
should not have been transferred to a Level 6 SHU. 1t is the opinion of this Panel that
Inmale Geoghan shounld have remained at the MCI Concord SHU.

. Was Inmate Johin Geoghan fearful for his life while at SBCC?

No. Inmate Geoghan made staternents to the SBCC Classification Board and to his
family that ke felt safe and wished to remain at the SBCC SHU.

. How did Inmate John Geoghan adjust to SBCC?

- Inmate Geoghan adjusted well. A review of Inmate Geoghan’s telephone

conversations revealed his praise of the staff at SBCC and is further evidenced by the
Iotal absence of disciplinary reponts -- a remarkable difference frotn bis incarceration

at the MCI Concord SHU.?

Was the Department of Correction aware of any imminent danger to Inmate Joha
Cieoghan?

No. There is no evidence that Inmnate Geoghan or any other employee of the
Department, or any inmate, or any other persnn ever knew of Inmate Druce's

intention of harming Inmate Geoghan, Inmate Druce acted alone and in secret.

*"The panel has reviewed numerous telephone calls made by Inmate Geoghan, From 2/21/2002 until
8/23/2003 Inmate Geoghan mede 2,817 telephone calls for a total of 42,757 minutes.



10. Did the Massachuseits Correction Officer Federated Union (MCOFU) have any role
in the transfer of Inmate John Geoghan?
e No. Although there was sonte speculation and rumor as to this possitnlity, no

evidence was offered nor discovered to support such a claim.

F1l. Shouid lnmate Joseph Druce have been classified as a Level 6 inmate and transferred
to the SBCC SHU?

* Yes. Inmate Dimce was without doubt property clussihed as o Level 6 inmate. He
had a number of documented eneries in the general population al the two facilities

for Level & inmates, hence his need for protective custody status in a Level 6 SHU.

12, Was Inmate Joseph Druce aware prior 1o his transfer to SBCC that Inmate John
Ueoghan was at the SBCC SHU?

« No. This ilweétiggtinn, which included a review of tzlephone calls made by Inmaie
Druce, found ho evidence to support the notion that Inmate Druce was aware that
Inmate Geoghan was at SBCC.*

13, Was Inmate Joseph Druce part of a conspiracy in the killing of Inmate John
Geoghan?

» No. Inmate Druce acted alone. A review of inmate interviews conducted by State
Police Homicide Detectives assigned to the Worcester County District Attorney’s
Office indicated that no one bad any direct knowledge of Inmate Druce’s intention to
kill inmate Geoghan, nor assisted him in any munner.— This was also supported by
Inmate Druce’s own statement wherein he assumed sole responsibility, along with a

review of Inmate Pruce’s mail and inmate account records.

14. Did the jamming of the cell door contribute 1o Inmate John Geoghan's death or hinder
the response to rescue him?

¢ Yes. Itis the opinion of the Panel that Inmate Druce jamimed the cell door, for the

express purpose of preventing anyone from stopping him in his efforts to kill Inmate

* Shorily after lnmate Druce's arrival at SBCC, a telephone conversation was recorded which reflects y
Inmate Druce’s surprisc at learning that Inmate Geoghan wus present in the SRCC SHU.



(5.

16.

Geoghan. The physical jamming of the door prevented it from being opened
immediately, and ceniainly delayed an effective rescue response. However, Inmate

Druce was able to complele his attack on Inmate Geoghan before staff attempted to

open the cell door.

Was staffing in the SBCC SHU sufficient at the time of Inmate Joseph Druce’s
assault on Inmate Johin Geoghan?

No. Two correction officers were assigned to the SBCC SHU on August 23, 2603,

However, inmates were let out of their cells after lunch, after one officer had been

pulied out {posted-up) to assist in the general population movement of inmates 1o the
dining hall. This left a single officer to comrol 26 inmates who were out of their celis.
This span of control is far too wide for any meaninglul and effective management of
protective cusiody inmates and certainly c{r;ntributcd to Inmate Drruce’s ability (o slip

into Inmate Geoghan’s cell undetected.

Was the rcspﬂnsc. to the emergency alarm tirnely and appropriate?

Yes. Once the emergency was deciared, the response by correction officers and
medical personnel was prompt, and efforts by comection officers were both urgent
and exhaustive. The Halligan tool used 1o pry open the cell door was secured from
another location, causing some delay in gaining entrance into Inmate Geoghan's cell.
Medical staff arrived in a timely manner and had sufficient medical equipment

available to hegin life saving efforts once the cell door was opened.,



INTRODUCTION / OVERVIEW

On August 23, 2003, Inmate Joseph Druce murdered Inmate Jobn Geoghan at the Souza
Baranowski Correctional Cemter (SBCC) in Shirley, Massachusetts. The murder occurred
within the Special Housing Unit I-1 (SHU) in Cell 2, the assigned cell of Inmate John
Geoghan {(#W70597). The State Police Detective Unit assigned o Worcester County
District Attorney John Conte’s office responded and conducted a comprehensive
homicide invesiigﬁtion. Inmaie Joseph Druce - was segregated, charged and

.subriﬂqucm]}r indicted for the mourder of Inmate John Geoghan.

On September 4, 2003, Edward A. Flynn, Secretary of Public Safety, ordered an
administralive invesligation into the circumstances, conditions, and related factors
surrounding the death of Inmate John Geoghan. This investigation would review al)
pertinent practices, poticies and procedures, as well as all systemic processes and

decision-making procedures concerning lnmates Geoghan and Druce.

Sécretar}r Flynn assigned Massachiusetts State Police Major Mark Delaney to chair a
three-member Panel to investigate the incident. This Panel included Mark Reiily, Chief of |
Investigative Services for the Department of Correction, as well as a former prison

administrator and national consultant George M. Camp, Ph.D. of the Crminal Justice

Institute in Middietown, Connecticut,

+ Major Mark F. Delaney, Deputy Division Commander of Investigative Services is a
29-}"6&[; veteran of the Massachusetts State Police and has a Masters Degree in
Criminal Justice Administration. He is presently the Cc-mmanding' Officer of the
State Police Crime Laboratory System and Forensic Services. Major Delaney has
been assigned to the Diviston of Investigative Services for the past 22 years. During

_this 22-year investigative career, Major Delaney was the Commanding Officer of the
State Police Detective’s Unit assigned to the Office of the Atrarmey General. Prior to
that assignment, Major Delaney was the Commanding Officer of homicide and

narcotic officers assigned 1o the Middlesex County District Attorney’s Office.



«  Chiefl Mark Reilly, Chief of Investigations, is a 2|-year veterun of the Massachusets
Department of Cotrection, 17-years of which were dedicated to conducting
investigalions within a correctional environment. He began his career at the rank of
correction officer in 1982 and rose through the ranks to Chief of Investigative
Services in 2000, In that capacity, Chief Reilly is responsible for cwers.eaing and
supervising the Office of Investugative Services. He has provided technical assistance
to other staie correction departmerts in New England, as well as county departments

throughout the Commonwealth.

» George M. Camp, Ph.1)., has over 41-years of experience in the correctional field.
He is a former prison administrator and now a national consuitant at the Criminal
Tustice Institute in Middlecown, Connecticut. His public service includes assigniments
at three federal prisons — the .5, Penitentiary at Terre Haute, indiana; the 1.5.
Penitentiary al Lompoc, California; and the U.S. Penitentiary at Marion, lllinois. At
the latler two he was the Associaie Warden for Security and Programs. He aiso
served as the Asststant Cormmissioner of the New Yark City Deparument of
Correction, the First Deputy Commissioner of the New York State Division of
Criminal Justice Services, and the Director of the Missouri Department of
Corrections. He has written widely and directed national studies on issues including
prison crowding, prison gangs, change managerment, ﬁﬁsan staffing, prison riots
among others. He is also the Co-Execntive Director of the Association of State
Correctional Administrators. He has a Ph. D. from Yale University in Sociclogy: a
M. A. from Florida State University in Criminology and Corrections; and a B.A. from

Middlebury Callege in American Literatore,

The following report will chronricie this investigation from inception to conclusion.
Furthermore, it witl comprehensively detail the facts and circomstances from which the

Panei reached their findings and conclusions and made their recommendations.



This report has been organized into sections that will answer the MAany {uestions

surrounding the death of Inmate John Geoghan. The sections are as follows:

A GOALS AND OBJECTIVES:

This section wilt inform the reader as w WHY this investigation was undertaken -- its

purpose and importance.

B, APPROACH AND METHODGLOGY:

This section will describe HOW the investigative Panel organized iis investigation. It

will introduce the Investigative Team selected by Major Delaney to assist the Panel in
conducting interviews, collecting and organizing data, re'.'ri'ewing documents, and

analyzing findings.

C. BACKGROUND:

In this section, information wiil be provided that js necessary to understand the Panel's
findings, conciusions, and recommendations. This section will detail the WHO, WHAT,
WHERE, AND WHEN.

D.  FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS:
This section will detail the Panel's findings and conclusions, based on the results of the

Panel’s investigation.

E. RECOMMENDATIONS:

This section will make recommendations for remedial action and for carrecting

deficiencies found, as a result of this inquiry.

F. PHOTOGRAPHS:

This section contains various photographs depicting points relevant this investigation.
€3 TIMELINE:

This section contains a timeline of Inmate John Geoghan and Inmate Darrin Smitedge /-
Joseph Druce.

10



H. ' DOCUMENTS AND YIDEOTAPES REVIEWED BY PANEL:

This section contains a list of all documents and videotapes that were revicwed by the

Panel.

F. ACKNOWILEDGEMENTS:

This section tsts acknowledgements,
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'SECTION A



The goals and objectives of this invcstigaﬁve Panel were to conduct a thorough
administrative investigation into the circumstances, couditions and related factors, by
which Tnmates John Geoghan and Joseph Druce were classified, transferred and assigned
¢ the Souza Baranowski Correctional Center Special Housing Unit (SHU J-1). The
investigation was 10 narrowly and specifically trace the historical paths of Infates
Geoghan and Druce through the Depariment of Correciion, evaluate and assess the
systemic process and decision-making procedures that led to their common incarceration
within the Special Housing Unit at the Souza Baranowski Correctional Center and forther
determine the means and methods by which Inmate Druce, accessed Inmate Geoghan's

cell, and committed this murder.

These objectives fequired the Panel to review relevant documents, records and reports of
the Department of Correction, as wel! as 1o examine and analyze the appropriateness,
application of, and adherence to, the Department of Correction’s Classification Policies
and Procedures. A thorough review and examination of the disciplinary procedures,
investigative procedures and related hearings concerning both Inmates Geoghan and
Drice would be required for proper evalualion and assessment. Finally, the Panel would
submit a report detailing its collective findings and conclusions surrounding Inmate John
Cieoghan’s death and submil recommendations for appropriate remedial action to avoid

such accurrences i the future.

13



~ SECTION B

APPROACH AND METHODOLOGY

14



The Investigative Panel met initially (o establish a diatogue and to develop an
mvesligative strategy. It was agreed that a coordinated approach would be required 1o

achieve the objectives of this assignment.

Major Mark F. Delaney, acting as Chairman of the Panel, coordinated all

mvestigative activities of the team and served as a liaison to the Office of the

secretary of Public Safety. Panel member Mark Reilly fulfilled the role of facilitator,
providing access to correctional facilities, Inmates, administrators, and correction
officers. Additionaily, he provided documents and secords required of investigators and
Panel members. Panel member George Camp provided expert advice and guidance
thioughout the course of the investigation. Mr. Camp assisted in conducting interviews
of staff members at MCI Concord, MCI Cedar Junciion, Souza Baranowsk: Correctional
Center, and the Department of Correction's Ceniral Office. He also analyzed documents
and reports, and pérticipated in the wriiing of the report. ‘The Panel reviewed, examined,
and analyzed an extensive list of documents, records, policies, procedures, niles,
regulations, and other pertinent documenes. The Panet then formulaled conclusions and

recommendations based on its findings.

It was collectively decided that the investigation would reguire numerous interviews of
comection officers, administrators, and mmaies from MCI Concord, MCI Cedar Tunction,
and the Souza Baranowski Comrectionat Center, as well as high-level administrators at the
Department of Correction's Central Office. In order 10 accomplish this task, the Panel
needed the services of additional investigators to assist in condacting these interviews.
Major Delaney selected four State Police Detectives to assist in this endeavor. The
officers selected were Detective Licutenant William Powers, Deteclive Lieutenant John

Tutungian, Lieutenant Francis Matthews and Sergeant Paul Petrino.

15



Deiective Lieutenant William Powers is a 29-year veteran of the Massachuseits
Staie Police. He is currently the Commanding Officer of the State Police Detective
Unit assigned to the Middlesex County District Attorey’s Office. Detective
Lieutenant Powers has more than 20-years within the Division of Investigative
Services of the Massachusetts State Police. Formerly, he was the Commanding
Officer of the State Police Detective Unit assigned to the Suffolk County District

Attorney’s Office.

.Detective Lieutepant John Tutungian is a 23-year veteran of the Massachusetts
State Police. He has been assigned to the Division of Investigative Services for 15
ycars and is curreﬁtiy the Commanding Officer of the Special Service Section.
Throughout his investigative career, Detective Lieutenant Tutungian has primarily
been involved ip .lang-tcrm investigations of organized crime. Prior to his
employment with the Massachusetis State Police, Detective Lieutenant Tutungian |

was employed by the Massachusetis Department of Correction as a correction offrcer.

Lieutenant Francis J. Matthews is a 22-year veteran of the Massachusetts State
Police and has a Bachelor’s Degree in Criminal Justice. He has been assigned o the |
Division of Investigative Services for the past 20 years. Throughout his investigative
career, Lieutenant Matthews has served in the Violent Fugitive Arrest Squad, the
State Police Gang Unit, the Youth Vicolence Strike Force, and as a homicide
supervisor in both the Middlesex County and Suffolk County District Altorney’s
Offices. Lieutenant Matthews is presently the Executive Officer at the State Police
Dretective Unit assigned to the Office of the Attorney General. |

Sergeant Paul E. Petrino is a 17-year veteran of the Massachusetts State Police and
has a Masters Degree in Criminal Justice Administration. He has been assigned to
the Diviston of Investigative Services for the past 11 years. During his investigative
career, Sergeant Petrino was assigned to the Plymouth County District Attomney’s
Office as an investigator. As part of this assignment, Sergeant Petrino’s duties
incinded acting as the Plymouth County District Attorney’s liaison to the MCI

Bridgewater Prison Complex. Sergeant Patrino is currently assigned as the Division

16



of Investigative Services Liaison for the State Police Crime Laboratory System. Prior
to his employment with the Massachusetts State Police, Sergeant Petrino was

employed by the Massachusetis Department of Correction, 4s a correction officer.

The first action taken by the Pancl and Investigative Team was to visit the Speciat
Housing Unit’s (SHU s} at both the Souza Baranowski Correctionzl Center and MCI
Concord. The primary goal of each visit was to familiarize the team with the physical
layout of both SHU s and to photographically document relevant areas. Numerous
documents including policies and procedures, rules, regulations, post orders, disciplinary
repﬁrts. and other documents germane to the management and operation of the special

housing units were also obtained and reviewed.

It is important to note that the Panel was cognizant of the ongoing homicide
investigation being cuﬁducled by State Police Officers assigned to the Worcester County
District Attorney's Office. Major Delaney remained in constant communication with
Captain Thomas Greene, Commanding Officer of the Siate Police Deiective Unit in
Worcester County, 1o avoid duplication or any interference witﬂ their criminal
investigation and prosecution. Therefore, it was agreed that the Panel would rely on
interviews conducted by the Worcester County Detective’s Unit, if possibie, and only re-
interviv_f:w witnesses, it required. In furtherance of this agreement, Captain Greene made

available, for review only 1o the Panel all investigative and interview reports.

17



SECTIONC

BACKGROUND



Initially, it was thought that the administrative review of Inmate John Geoghan's death -

would focus on the activities that occurred 4t the Souza Baranowski Correctional Center

. Oh Angust 23, 2003. However, the Panel rather quickly determined that the events of
August 23, 2003, represented the end of the review. not the beginning. Much occurred
prior to that date that was significant and relevant to a thorough invesligation of what
transpired on August 23. Events and decisions made well before that date greatly

| impacted what occurred on August 23. Conseguenly, the investigation led us back to
Inmate Geoghan and Inmate Druce's initial incarceration, placement, care, and
classification within the Department of Cotrection.” The Tnvestigative Team conducted
numerous interviews with inmales, correctiona) staff, lawyers, family members, as well
as others. Additionalty the team reviewed hundreds of documents periinent lo this

investigation.

The background section will cover the following:

¢ Inmate John Geoghan's Death

* Biographical ﬁistnry of Inmate John Geoghan

¢ Biographica! history of Inmate Joseph Druce

* Secarity levels of institutions within the Department of Comrection

. Cun"ecﬁnﬁal Insfimutions pertinent to this investigation

* Special Housing Units

¢ Blaney and Haverty court decisions

» Department of Correction Investigations

¢ Physical abuse of Inmate John Geoghan on Tuesday, March 19, iDﬂZ

* Refer 1o end of report for complete time line of both Tnmate Druce’s and Geoghan's incarceraiion within
the DOC. .
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JOHN GEOGHAN'S DEATH:
On Satarday, August 23, 2003, Correction Officers David Lonergan and Michael

Kasperzak were assigned to manage the 26 inmates in the Special Housing Unit (J-1) at
the Souza Baranowski Correctional Center. Both Officers Lonergan and Kasperzak

began their shift at 0700 hours and were assigned to the SHU until 2300 hours.”

Saturday, August 23, 2003 would later be described as a relatively quiet day and
operationally, everything appeared routine. Throughout the morning, the two
correctional officers alternated their duties. While one officer remained on the desk, the

other performed the assigned rounds.”

At approximately 1140 hours, Officer Kasperzak notified Officer Lonergan that he was
leaving the SH1J to cover the chow line on Level 1 South. This departure from the SHU
was, af the time, a Toutine function.® As Correction Officer Kasperzak was leaving the
SHU, there were only a lew inmates out on the block. These inmates were returning
from obtaining their medications and were getting their meal trays before retorning {o

their cells. Officer Lonergan was left to monitor the SHU alone.

At approximately 1152 hours, Officer Lonergan was allowing the SHU inmates out of
their cells to return iheir food trays. Some of the inmates also came o the officer’s
pedium to schedule their gym time. Presumably, all the inmates returned to their cells,

| whereupon the cell doors were electronically closed and locked. Two inmates remained
on the block floor conducting janitorial duties. These inmates are referred to as '

“runners.”*

After securing all the inmates, Officer Lonergan adjoumed to a smatl room-
out of sight of the cell doots to prepare his own lunch. This room is located directly
behind the officer’s podium. One of the inmates was replacing a trash bag in a barre],

when he noticed a head bobbing in Cell. This inmate’s attention was drawn further to.

® Officers Lonergan and Kasperzak were both working a “double shilt”, which reguired them to be on duty
Trom 0700 1o 2300 hours, & toal of sixteen (16} hosrs tha day.

? Rounds is a term used to describe the checks (count) of inmates and must be porformed hourty per
General Post Orders.

% Prior to Aagust 23, 2003, the practice of having the second officer assigned o the J-1 SHU leave his
assigned area and assist other officers with large prisoner movements (such as meals) was common place.
* “Runnes” is a slang term used Lo identify inmates who have been chosen by a comection officer to
perform custodial duties during a shift.



Ceil 2 by the movement of shadows, This inmate went and looked directly into Cell 2
aml witnessed Inmate Droce in Cel] .with Inmate Geoghan. This inmate observed
Inmate Druce remove a long whiie item from the jnside of his shirt. This inmate walked
away from the door for a short moment and then returned to look through the cell door
window again, At that time, this inmate witnessed Inmate Druce laying on top of Inmate
Geoghan, twisting this long white material tightly around Inmate Geoghan's neck.
Inmate Druce motioned 1o this inmate to get away from the door. This inmate also

witnessed Inmate Druce jam ao item in the door tracks.

This inmate wenlt directly o the staff bathroom behind the officer’s podivm, where the
other inmate “runner” was working. The first inmate reported o the second inmate what
he had just witnessed in Cel]-and stated that he thought Inmate Druce was choking
Inmate Geoghan. After a short discussion as to what to do, the twa inmates went 1o
Officer Lonergah and informed him that Inmate Druce was locked in Ccll' with Inmate

Geoghan and something appeared 1o be wrong,

At this time Officer Lonergan’s attention was drawn to Ccll' where he heard a
thuraping sound. Officer Lonergan ordered the two “runners™ to return to their cells.
Officer Lonergan attempted o electronically open the door to CclI. but the door would
niot open. Officer Lonergan then ran over o Ccllland tooked in through the glass
window, whereupon he witnessed .[nmate Diruce on top of the bed jumping around.

Officer Lonergan also observed Inmate Geoghan on the floor, bound and gagged.

At 1157 hours, Officer Lonergan called in the emergency that two inmates were fighting
in a cell. Officer Lnﬂergan'remmed to the officer’s podium and electronicatly opened the

maig doors to the SHU to allow the response team to enter.

At 1158 hours, the emergency responders arrived on the SHU asid attempted to open the
door to Cell . All initial aftempts to open the celi door failed. A rcqueSt was miade for a
Halligan ool and emergency keys to be brought to the SHU. The Halligan tool arrived at
1159 hours, and efforts to open the cell door continued. While attempting to forcefolly

open the cell door, correction officers were demanding of Inmate Diace to remove the
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obstacles, which he had placed along the door track to prevent the door from opening. "
Inmate Druce eventually removed only the nail clippers from the cell door. At 1267
hours, the door to Ce]l!was opened and Inmate Dinice was removed. Inmate Druce, alter
being secured with handeutfs, was brought 10 the Health Services Unit (HSU).
Simultaneous to the removal of Inmate Druce, the Medical Response Team amrived on

SCLINE.

The Medical Response Team, consisting of regisiered nurses and corrections personnel,
immediately entered Ceill 2 and removed all visible restraints and figatures from Inmate
Geoghan's person, Inmate Geoghan's vital signs were assessed and Cardio Pulmonary
Resuscitation {CPR) commenced. This effort continued uninterrupted until the arrival of

the paramedics attached to the Med Star Ambulance Service at 1234 hours.

At 1301 hours, as advanced life support efforts continued to be adminisiered by
paramedics, Inmate Geoghan was removed from the SHU and was ransported via

ambulance, arriving at the Leominster Hospital at approximately £315 hours.

Inmate Geoghan was brought to Emergency Trauma Room [, where additional life
saving methods were employed, without success. At 1317 hours, Dr. Richard Freniere of
the Leominster Hospital pronounced Inimate John Geoghan dead. The body was moved
to Emergency Room 11 (o await the amrival and subsequent custodial transfer of the body
t0 the Medical Examiner’s Office. |

A1 1345 hours, the Superjulendent of the Souza Baranowski Correctional Center, Edward
Ficeo attempied to notify Inmate John Geoghan’s next of kin, his sister Catherine
Geoghan, Catherine Geoghan refurned a call to Superintendent Ficco at 1405 hours, at
which time she was informed of her brother’s death.

At 1420 hours, State Troopers assigned 1o the Worcester County District Attorney’s
Office began arriving at the Leominster Hospital, as well as at the Souza Baranowski

Correctional Center to commence the homicide investigation. Intesviews of comection

1 Inmiste Druce jammed & paperback book into the top rack and a pair of nail clippers into the bottom
track.
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officers, inmates, and medical staff were conducied, and appropriate crime scene protocol
and evidence recovery procedures were performed. A staternent was taken from [omate
Druce by State Troopers David Napolitane and Wayne Gerhardt. In essence, Inmate
Druce took complete and sole responsibility for the death of Inmate John Geoghan.

Oa Monday August 25, 2003, an autopsy was performed by Dr. Richard J. Evans at the
Medical Examines™s Office, 720 Albany Street, in Boston, Massachusetts. Dr. Bvans
ruled the cause of death to be lgatore strangniation and blunt chest trauma. The manner

of death was ruled to be a homicide.
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BIOGRAPHICAL HISTORY OF INMATE JOHN GEOGHAN:

John Geoghan was born on WM. in Boston, Massachusetts, where he resided for
" the majority of his life. He graduated [rom the Cathedral High School in Boston’s South
End and wenl on to receive a degree in History}"Philﬂso;}h}f aL fhe College of the Holy
Cross, in Worcester, Massachusens.. e would later rcc:eivc a Masters Degree in
Thevlogy from Harvard University, as well as a Masters in [ivinity from St. John's

Sermuinary.

John Geoghan was ordained a Catholic Priest on February 2, 1962. Over the next 36~
yeurs, he was assigned to various ministerial and clerical positions within the
Archdioceses of Bosion. In February 1998, as a result of numerous parishioners claiming

sexual abuse, John Geoghan was dismissed from the priesthood.

In Movember 1999, a Middlesex County Grand Jury rctumet:l a single indictment against
John Geoghan charging him with indecent assault and battety on a child under the age of
ft::-urteen Geoghan was arraigned on this charga and remained free pending his trial. Dn
Janvary 18, 2002, following a four day trial in Middlesex Superior Court, John Geoghan
was convicted of a single count of indecent assault and battery on a child under fourteen
years of age, and remanded o the custdd:-,r of the Middlesex County Sheriff's Office.
Geoghan would remain at the Cambridge Jail for a period of five days and ordered to
vndergo 30 days of ohservation at the Bridgewater State Hospital.

On February 21, 2002, John Geoghan appeared before Judge Sandra Hamlin in
Middlesex Superior Court and was sentenced to a4 9 to 10 year term of mcarceratmn at
MCT Cedar Junction, six of those years to be served, the balance suspended for the
remainder of the defendant’s Jife. As a condition of the suspended balance, the defendant
was to have po contact with children under the age of sixteen and 10 participate in sexual

offender counseling and treatment,

On February 22, 2002, at 66 years of age, Inmate John Geoghan was sent to MCI
Concord, a Level 4 secore facility to begin his term of incarceration. Inmate Geoghan

underwent his initial classification and due to the high notoriety of his case, he-was
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¢classified a Level 4 inmate and placed in the Spa_::ial Housing Unit (SHU J-4), - the
Department’s only unit for intnates in protective custody status. Tnmate Geoghan’s
classification status was again reviewed on April 3, 2002, at which time the Classification
Board recommended unanimously that Inmate Geoghan should remain at the MCI
Concord SHU. This recommendation was supported by then MCI Concord
Sﬁperinténdcnt Wiiliam Coalter’s designee and supported by Department of Correction

Cotnimissioner Michael Maloney's designee.

On Ociober 15, 2002, the Classification Board met to review the status of Inmate
Geoghan. The Board again unanimously recommended that [nmate Geoghan remain in
the Special Housing Unit (F-4). This decision was supported by MCI Concord
Superintendent Michael Grant’s designee and upheid by Commissioner Maloney's

designec.

On February 20, 2003, the MCI Concord Classification Board met to conduct z third
four-month-review of the classification status of Inmate Geoghan. "' The Board,
consisting of Chairman CPO ITT Jaymie Derderian and board members CO 1 Philip
Horton and CPO I David Stack, vnanimously recommended that Enmate Geoghan remain
in the Special Hﬂusing Unit (J-4) at MCI Concord. However, on February 24, 2003,
citing Inrnate Gcoghan’s overall poor adjustment and the issrance of 1wo very recent
disciplinary reports, Deputy Superintendent Scott Anderson overruied the Classification
Board and recommended that Inmate Geoghan be classified as a Level 6 inmate and
transferred to the Special Housing Unit (J-1) at the Souza Baranowski Correctiortal

Center - a Level 6 secure facility in Shirley, Massachuseus, '

Inenate Geoghan appealed this reversal of the Classification Board's recommendation to -
MC1I Cencord Superintendent Michael Grant. It was reviewed by the Superintendent’s
designee, Deputy Supetintendent Anderson, who had just reversed the Board's _

"' Inmates classified to 2 SHU are requited io be teclassified every 4 months,

* Prior to his February 20, 2003 classification bearing, Inmate Geeghan had accumulated 13 disciplinary
reports. He would receive two additional reperts, one issued by Officer Haley, and the other by fficar
Bisazza, prior to Deputy Supenntendent Anderson's review and recommendation,
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recommendation for Inmate Geoghan to remain at MCI Concord. Nat surprisingly,

Deputy Superintendent Anderson denied Inmate Geoghan's appeal.

On March 24, 2003, Tnmale Geoghan wrote 3 letter to Commissioner Maloney seeking
his help in rernainiﬁg at MCI Concord. Subseguently, on April 15, 2003, after his
transfer to SBCC, Inmate Geoghan received a response to his letter written to
Comumissioner Maloney. Acting Deputy Soperintendent Karen DiNardo authored this
response. This letter stated that Commissioner Maloney had received his correspondence
regarding his placement within the Department of Correction. Tt further stated, *Your
classification appeal was reviewed and not supported at the Commissioner’s fevel. The

Commissioner’s Designee is the final sign-off authority”.

On March 28, 2003, Acting Deputy Director of Classification, Lori Cresey, approved
Deputy Superintendent Anderson’s recommendation to reclassify and transfer Inmate
Geoghan 10 SBCC. On Apil 1, 2003, Inmate Fohn Geoghan was physically transferred
from MCI Concord to SBCC. Inmate Geoghan was assigned to the Special Housing Unit
{SHU) I-1, Cell 2.

‘Upon netification of the Superintendent’s designee’s denial of his appeal, Inmate
Geoghan also appealed that recommendation, via the Classification Board's review
process to the Commissioner of Correction. The Commissioner's Desi gnee, Lori Cresey,
who upheld Superintendent Grant’s recommendation, reviewed his appeal and on June
16, 2003, not surprisingly rejected it. This rejection was some ten weeks after his transfor
ta SBCC. "Acting Deputy Director Lori Cresey upheld Deputy Superinie.ndant
Anderson's decision to reclassify Inmate Geoghan, citing his failure at Level 4, as well as
numerous disciplinary reports, including the two reports he received following the

Board's recommendation that he remain at MCI Concord.

On June 26, 2003, Inmate Geoghan, now at SBCC, underwent a required and routine
classification review. The SBCC Classification Board consisted of Chairperson CPO III
Jack Fionda and Board Members CPO II Pamela O"Dell and CO I Jason Grasso,
Interviews of the board members by this Panel’s investigators revealed that Inmate
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Geoghan felt comfortable and secure withis the SHU at SBCC and wanted 1o remain at

that location. Inmate Geoghan tirrther stated to the Board that be did not like MC1

Concord and he had been treated "unfairly” there. Tnmate Geoghan said, “1t’s like

heaven here (SBCC), and Concord was like hell.” Inmate Geoghan further stated,

‘;Cnming here was like going from hell to heaven,” and that he wanted to Slay at SBCC,

Inmate Geoghan staled that he wanted to stay in the SHU, that he liked the cotrection

officers, and he had no problems with the inmates. * Based upon this review, the Board .
znanimously (3-0) recommended continued placement on the SHU at SBCC, citing, “his

recent arrival and senlence structure.”

On June 30, 2003, SBCC Director of Classification Michael Rodrigues, concurred with
the Board's recommendation, citing Inmate Geoghan's, “recent return and refusal to
participate in the sexual offender reatment program.” " Inmate Geoghan did not appeal

this decision, and of note, for the first time sigred the classification report.'

On Aﬁgust 23, 2003, Inmate Geoghan was murdered at SBCC in his assigned cell within
the Special Housing Unit J-1.

s interesting Lo note that Inmate Geoghan received no disciplinary reports while incarcerated in the

SRCL SHLE.

" Ay part of #is overall sentence structure, Inmate Geoghan was erdered to participate in the Sexual

. Offenders Treatment Program {SOTP). However, he refused 1o patticipate throughout §is entice -
incarceration. :

'* Prior to signing this classification report Inmate Geoghan had refosed to sign any previous ones.
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BIOGRAP_I—!ICAL_IHSTORY OF INMATE JOSEPH DRUCE:
'On December 18, 1989, Darrin Smiledge (a/k/a Joseph Lee Druce), at age 24, was

ordered into the custody of the Massachusetts Department of Correction (DOC)
following his conviction in Essex Superior Court for Murder in the First Degrec and
related charges. He was sentenced to life imprisonment, and he remains in custody on
those charges today. During his fourteen years of incarceration he has been heid at |
several different institutions, both in and ont of Massachusetts, at varying levels of

confinement.

In August of 1999, white being held at MC] Walpole in the Departmental Disciplinary
Unit (DD}, Inmate Smiledge fled documents with the Norfelk Probate Court 1o tegaily
change his name to Joseph Lee Druce. In his formal application he listed his reason as
“Safety and encmy issue’s, very important o change identity.”"® The Courl granted-his
request and his name was officially changed."?

On Saturday, August 23, 2003, Inmate Smiledge, now Inmate Pruce, was being heid in
the Special Housing Unit (SHU) at the Souza Baranowski Correctional Center in Shizley,
Massachusetts, On that date, another inmaie assigned {o the SHU, Inmate John Geoghan,
was beaten and strangled to death in his cell. When cozrection officers were alerted to a
problem in Inmate Geoghan's locked cell, they discovered Inmate Druce sitting on top of
Tnimate Geoghan's body. Inmate Druce, in a statement to police fater in the day claimed
responsibility for the killing. He was formally charged with the murder of Inmate Jobn
Geoghan in Worcester District Court on Angust 25, 2003 '

* Darrin Smiledge, was born in Danvers Massachusetts on i it high
-~ schoo! (N - - =ccordins to court and Department of
Correction records, worked as a truck driver and a mechanic. His criminal history began
as a juvenile in 1979 and escalated once he became an adult. From the time he was |

seventeen until he was charged with murder at the age of twenty-two, Smiledge appeared

18 e DO is the restricied area(s) designated by the Commissioner, to which an inmnate has been
sentenced by a Special Hearing's CHficer.

¥ While this event may seem rather unusual, it appears 1o be 2 rather common practice for an inmete o
petition a court for a change in their name, and for the courts to grant their request.
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in coust to answer a total of thirty-nine charges ranging from assaults, to motor vehicle
violations, to property crimes, and drag related offenses. These charges resulied in a
combination of dismissals, restitutions, fines, probation and two short commiiments to

county houses of correciions.

According to Depamﬁent of Correction records, Smiledge stated _

In the early morning hours of June 1, 1988, Smiledge was hitchhiking in Gloucester when |
a 51-year-old male picked him up. A few minutes later a third pasty ioined them in the |
car, and they drove to a seciuded location where the driver made sexual advances towards
Smiledge. According to police reports and eyewiiness testimony at trial, Smijedge
reacted in a violent manner to the unwanted, nnsolicited tonching. He beat the man into
unconsciousness, tied him up with rope and put him in the trunk of the car. The victim
regained conscicusness while in the trunk and began pleading for his life. Smiledge and
the other man drove {o the rooming house where Smiledge was living and got some beer.
They eventuaily brought the vehicle to 2 wooded area near the North Shore Music Circus
in Beverly. They semoved the man from the trunk and forced him into a secluded section
of the woods. Smiledge untied him and made him remove his clothes. The man was
pleading for his fife. Smiledge promised the man that he would not kill him, but th;-an put
a rope around his neck and stran'gled him. He then threw the body over an embankment
and covered him with brush and tree limbs. Smjlec{gf: then drove to his apartment and
went to sleep. On the following day the police investigators located Smiledge who was
still at his home. The victim’s car was parked in front of his house. At the time of his
arrest, he was wearing the victim’s tee shirt that was covered in the victim’s biood and
hody fluids.

On December 18, 1989, an Essex County jury convicted Smiledge of Murder in the First
‘Degree and he was given a life sentence. He was subseguently convicted in Suffolk

Superior Court on unrelated charges of Azmed Robbery, Larceny of a Motor Vehicle and
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Assanit and Battery by Means of a Dangerous Weapon. On these charges he was

sentenced to 3 to 5 yeurs, to be served concurrently with his life sentence.

Smiledge's initial introduction to the state correctional system was at MCI Cedar
Junction. He was assigned Tnmate Identification Number: W47601. That number has

ntever been changed and remains in effect.

During an intake interview shortly after his arrival at MCI Cedar Junction, Fxmate

Smiledge eated 1 the ineriewcr 1 RN
I - S
P ———— TR TR
S 2 Smiledge fucther told the interviewer that | EGNNGE
. - - -
T ———
clained nc (R
PP =—————
S ' i< tiat he s A
Y - - i -

In his initial classification &t MCI Cedar Junction on January 8, 1990, the board -

recommended an out-of-state placement. This recommendation was later modified on
April 25, 1990 and Inmate Smiledge remained at MCI Cedar Junction. I a period of

stightly more than five months, he received 13 disciplinary reports for —

S -

was placed on Awaiting Action (AA) status because he incurred numercus enemies. 18

" A4 is a form of separation from general population in which an inmate may be placed pending; a hearing
on & disciplinary offense; an investigation of a pessible disciplinary offense; wansfer or reclassification to
higher custody; imposition of disciplinary isctation time; or clarification of protective custedy needs.
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May 3, 1990, Insmate Smiledge was transferted to MCI Norfolk., During a two-month

stay he participated :- 3 received no disciplinary reports and received what

appeared to be fair and approprsie evaluations.

On July 30, 1990, Inmate Smiledge was transfermed (o MCI Concord and assigned to the

SHU to await an out-of-state federal placement. While in the SHU he went on a hunger

As a result of his behavior, Inmate Smiledge was transferred to the Bridgewater State

- Hospital for observation on September 7. 1990. He rcpurte—

The Department of Comrection initiated the process to send Inrnate Smiledge back ko the

MCI Concord SHU. Wher he learned of this effort, Inmate Smiledge —

-1 order to block any transfer. On September 27, 1990, he was moved to the
- MCI Notfolk Hospital. After treatment, he was transferred to MCI Concord, where he

was housed on AA statns. His disruptive behavior continued, and_

Inmate Smiledge was iransferred to the South East Correctional Center (SECC) on

December 7, 1990, to await out-of-state- placement at the Adult Correctional instituti(m
{ACI) at Cranston, Rhode Island. The reason given for the transfer was his NUMETOUS

enernies within the Massachusetts' correctionat system.

Inmate Smiledge's stay in Rhode Island lasted less than two years. He was returned to the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on August 11, 1992, as he had become a management
problem at the ACT in RI. .

He was held at MCE Cedar Junction in Awaiting Action (AA) status due to his rumercus
stated enemies jn the Department of Correction system. The Classification Board again

recornmended an out-of-state placement. The Commissioner’s office modified the
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recommendation and sent Inmate Smiledge {0 the MCE Concord SHU, while he awaited

screening for another out-of-state placement.

While at MCI Concord, Tamate Smiledze maintained a disciplinary report free
adjustment, and his housing officers reported he did not pose a management problem. He

worked in the kitchen and received acceptable reports. Due 1o his housing restrictions, he

had limited program involvement. He also attended w
- |
Inmate Smitedge remained at MCI Concord for nine months and then was transferred to
the Old Colony Correctional Center {OCCC) and again, on the samne day, to the SECC.
He signed & waiver requesting he be placed in population becanse he had no enemies
there and was not in fear of his life. He did not attend any programs or work whiie at
SECC. On June 24, 19@4, he was jocked down pending an investigation into an assanlt
on the prison’s ball field. An investigation was conducted by Department of Correction
personnel, and it was determined that Inmate Smiledge had been assaulted by an

unknown mrate.

On July 6, 1994, the Admintstrative Reclassification Board recommended that he be
transferred back 1o OCCC. This was modified, however, because Inmate Smiledge had
detailed a list of stated enemies that were currently at OCCC. On August 9, 1994, he was

transferred to the Bridgewater State Hospital due to —

- He claimed he had ' I —

-A.s a resolt, he was returned to MCI Cedar Junction on September 6, 1994,

While at MCT Cedar Junction, Inmate Smiledge was placed in the West Wing
Segregation Unit (WWSLI). On December 3¢, 1994, he was moved into the MODS,

Phase I, SHU because of his extensive enemy issues, While there he received average

housing evaluations and one disciplinary report fﬂr—
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On Qctober 15, 1993, Inmate Smiledge was again transferred out-of-state, this time to
New Mexico. He remained there for  little under two and a half }'earsu

R - = v cscipinsy repocts o (R

' He was returned to Massachusetts’s custody on February 24,

e S ——

Upﬁn kis retem he was assigned 10 MCI Concord and was immediately placed into a

e was placed in the SHU

“at Concord, per ordess from the Commissioner’s Office.

. While being held in the SHU, Inmate Smiledge received a major disciplinary repott on

May 3, 1995, for J
_— |

At the next classification hearing, the Board recommended that Inmate Smiledge again be
screened for another out-of-state placemgnt The Concord Superiniendent, however,
recommended that Inmate Smiledge be transferred to the Bay State Correctional Center,
The Superintendent based his decision on the evidence that Inmate Smiledge had no
identifiable enemy issues there and that Inmate Smiledge had requested in writing that he

be transterred to that location. While this recommendation was waiting the approval of

e Commissones, vt St QRNNY
subsequently received six new disciplimary reporis for (G

On July 3, 1998, Inmate Smiledge received two major disciplinary reports, The first was

ro: A
L~ REEE———

™ All disciplinary reporis are categorized as either “Major” or “Minor” and determined by the Disciplinary
Hearing Officer at 2r institation.
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Y < < =< immediacly and aken

MCI Cedar Junction.

While at MCI Cedar Junction, Inmate Stniledge was confined in segregation while

awaiting a hearing for possible placement in the Departmenta) Disciplinary Unit (DDU).

While there, he received two additional disciplinary reports for —

MY :.ccording to Department of Corvection records, Inmate Smiledge had, to
this point, accumulated seventy-seven disciplinary reports during his Massachusetts”
incarceration. He had also personally lisied in excess of 50 “known enemies” within the

syslem.

In January of 1999, Inmate Smiledge was still being held in segregati-:ln,_

I i -

invcstigatﬂrs from Department of Correction, the State Police, FBI and U.S. Marshal
Service conducted invcstigations_ When questioned, Inmate Smiledge

_

During the course of the Department of Correction’s investigation into_a
Department of Cormection investigator and an agent from the Secret Service interviewed
inmate Smijledge. Inmate Smiledge told them that he was a member of -

2 Following the interview, Inmate Smiledge’s cell was searched and several

du-cumcnts Were ch:aI_cd. Two of them concerned the _

Inmate Smiledge was transferred hriefly to the Bridgewater State Hospital {BSH) on
Marck 25, 1999, and then was retumed to MCE Cedar Junction on April 6, 1999 and held
in the West Wing Segregation Unit (WWSL).
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On May 13, 1999, while still residing in the WWSL, Inmate Smiledge “

A

S ©oopraphs were taken and a disciplinary report was written.

Cn -I9’99, Inmate Smiledge was brought to an office where the Shift Commander
met himn. They met in private for a short period of time, during which they discussed -
Inmate Smiledge’s behavior. After the meeting, Tnmate Smiledge was returned to his cell.
Later that day, Inmate Smiledge refus&l his dinner meal and a short while later indicated

to & correction officer that he wu.-umtc Smiledge was removed 3

from his cell and at the time the officer noted there were facial injuries to Inmate

Similedgo. He was then ransported o [

An investigation was conducted by the Superintendent’s Investigator into the
circumstances susrounding Inmate Smiledge’s injuries. According to the investigalor's
report Inmate Smiledge initially reported that his injuries were the result of a fall and not
inflicted by H[l}':{]llc else. In a later interview, he changed his story and said he was beaten

by the Shift Cnnunander,_for writing the racial slurs. The Shift
Commarder denied that he caused any injuries 1o Inmate Smiledge and referred to their

convessation as being short and without incident. The investigator ruled thal the _
allegations against the Conunander were inconclusive. He based kis findings on the fact
that the statemenis of the corrections employees were consistent, while Inmate
Smijedge’s recounting of the events changed éompletei_y during his interviews,

On May 19, 1999, Inmate Smiledge was sentenced to the Department Disciplinary Unit
(DDU) at MCI Cedar Junction for a period of forty-eight months. This was in response to

bis
. —H.I.S initial projected release date was Aprit 27, 2003,

. Shortly after he was placed in the DDU, Inmate Darrin Smiledge filed the necessary
paperwork to have his name legally changed to Joseph Drmce.
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While in the DDU, now Inmate Druce had _that resuited in disciplinary
action. His release date was extended by one month. His disciplinary reports reflected

s e
R < - QU

During his years in the correctional system, Inmate Druce had expressed hate for many

individuals and groups. He has been very outspoken on his beliefs and offered
commentary to anyone he encountered, be they inmates, staff, clergy, etc. He not only
verhalizes his opinions, but he ofien puts them in writing, He is alleged to be a member

of the

In Qctober 2001, Inmate Druce commenced an — He
geies (Y - i S
S ' 2 25
—

attenpt to disguise the fact that the correspondence was from him. He mailed the

. materials from the pﬁsﬁm and pul his name and address in the upper left-hand corner of
the envelopes. The letters were mailed to lawyers and government officials throughout
the country. Once the incidents were discovered, the Department of Correction, the State

Police and the FBI began an investigation.

At the same time this investigation was being conducted, a chaplain at MCI Cedar
Junction wiote a rapﬁrt regarding a visit he had with lnmate Druce. The chaplain
described the hate that Inmate Druce expressed towards Jews, blacks, homosexuals and
their supporters. Inmate Druce told him that ke “hates anyone who is net pure white and
siraight.” The chaplain wrote in his report that during their conversations, Inmate Druce
was often “verhallf abusive and disrespectful,” and the chaplain would walk away when

Inmate Diuce would not control himself.
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In February 'zﬂ(}l a letter was intércepted from Inmate Droee to a woman in Gloucester,
Massachusetts. in the letee: he advises her _
‘_{e asks her to have stationary
designed, and he provides a logo and lists his title as “Reverend Joseph L. Druce,” He
also asks that she start a website for the organization. This information was provided to

the Department of Correction Futelligence Unit and was one of several factors used to

At the conclusion of his sentence to the DDU, the Classification Board recommended that
Inmate Druce be transfemed to the Souza Baranowski Correctional Center and held in
protective custedy status in the SHU. Their recommendation was partially based on the
fact that Inmate Druce had several documeated enemies within the system and he feared
for his safety. Inmate Druce was in accord with the recommendation and signed off on

the classification form.

The Board’s recommendation was upheid by the MCI Cedar Juaction Superintendent and
further approved by the Commissioner’s office,

On May 28, 2003, Inmate Druce was transferred from MCE Cedar Junction to the Souza
Baranowski Comrectional Center and assigned to the SHU. He was honsed in CellNp
immediately next to Cell f§ where Inmate Geoghan resided.

On August 1, 2003, Inmate Druce was involved in a=—with another
e ding o actviy peiod. RS

— Both were issued disciplinary reports. They pled guilty at their
Disciplinary Hearings on August 6, 2003, and received __

On August 22, 2003, Inmate Druce was released from jsolation and retumed to the SHUJ,

and was assigned to a different cell - Cel{J} across the tier and several cells down from
Inmate Geoghan's cell.
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On Angust 23, 2003, at the end of the funch period, fnmate Druce éntered Inmate -
Geoghan's cell unnoticed. After the cell doors were secured closed, Inmate Joseph Druce

beat and strangled Inmate Tohn Geoghan to death.
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CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTIONS AND SE¢ JRITY LEVELS:

The Massachkusetts Department of Comection, which falts under the auspices of the

Massachusetts Executive Office of Public Safety, is comprised of eighteen correctional
facilities. The Massachusetts Department of Correction is governed by 169 policies and
procedural statements. Beyond these policies and procedural statements, staff meinbers
are required to abide by the Employee Rule Book, which governs all employees of the
Massachusetts Department of Correction. The Massacimselts Departmen! of Correction
-currently eraploys approximately 3,000 correction officers, correctional program officers

and other security, support, and training staff.

Approximately 10,000 criminally sentenced inmates are incarcerated in the
Massachusetts Department of Correction prison system. Buring 2003 66 percent of the

inmate population was incarcerated for violent offenses. *'

SECURITY LEVELS:

To manage these 10,000 inmates, the Department requires a variety of facilities to meet
the varying needs and requirements of the offender population. Offenders are assigned to
these facilities based on the degree of need for supervision and observation. A

- superintendent is responsible {or the management of each faciiity, and these Facilities
range in security from Level 1 to Level 6, with secarity Level 1 being the lowest security
level and Level 6 being the highest secarity level. These facilities may be described as

follows:

« Level 1 Facility - A security leve) that is the least resirictive in the departruent
and 15 reserved for only those inmates who are at the end of their sentence and
have been identified as posing little 1o no threat to the community.

* Level 2 Facility - A security level in which both designfconstruction, as well as
inmate classification reflect the goal of restoring fo the inmate the maximum
responsibility and control of their own behavier and actions prior to release.
Direct supervision of these inmates is not required, but intermitient observation
inay be appropriate under certain conditions. [nmates within this security level
may be permitted to access the community unescorted to participate in _
programming (o inchude, but not limited to, work release, educational release, etc.

2! [4 i worth noting thut 97% of all inmates ar eventualiy released back into society.
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Level 3 Facility - A security level in which both the design/construction, as well
as nmate classification reflect the goal of retuming to the inmate a greatcr sense
of personal responsibitity and autonomy, while still providing for supervision and
monitoring of behavior and activity. Inmates within this security level are not
considered a serious risk to safety of staff, inmates or the public. Program
participation is mandated and geared towards their potential reintegration into the
community. Access to the community is limited and under constant direc
SUpervision.

Level 4 Facility - A security level in which both the design/construction, as well
as inmate classification, reflect the goal of restoring to the inmate some gdegree of
. responsibility and control of their own behavior and actions, while still ensuring
the safety of staff and inmates. Designfconstruction 15 generally characierized by
high security perimeters and limited use of internal physical barriers. Inmates
within this security level have demonstrated the ability to abide by rules and
regulations and require intermittent supervision. However, behavior in the
community, {i.e., criminal sentence and/or the presence of serious outstanding
legal matters}, indicate the need for some control and for segregation from the
comrnunity. Job and program opportunities exist for all inrmates within the
perimeter of the facilily. '

Level § Facility — A security level in which design/construction, as well as
inmate classification retlect the need to provide maximum external and internal
control and supervision of inmates. Inmates within this security level may present
an escape risk or pose a threat to inmates, staff, or the orderly running of the
institution, however, at a tesser degree than those at Level 6.

Level 6 Facility — A security level in which design/construction, as weil as
inmate classification reflect the need to provide maximum external and internal
contral and supervision of inmates primarily through the use of high security
perimeters and extensive use of internal physical barriers and check points.
Inmrates within this security level present serious escape risk or pose sericus
threats to themselves, other inmates, staff, or the orderly running of the institution.
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DEPARTMENT QF CORRECTION FACILITIES:

The following is a description of Massachusetis Department of Correction facilities

pertinent to this investigation.

MCI CONCORD

MCi Concerd 1s a medium security, Level 4 prison located in Concord,
Massachusetts. This prison was originally opened in 1878, Since 1980, this facitity
has been designated as a medium security facility, and serves as the Massachusetts
Department of Correction’s Reception and Diagnostic Center for male offenders.
Fffective October 1995, MCI Concord began receiving all new male court
coramitmenis. After a specified period of fime following an inmate’s initial armival
into the prison system, usually twelve to sixteen weeks, an inmate will appear before
the Classification Board, which will determine or recommend both a security rating
and an institutional placement. The Classification Board will alse make a treatment
mﬁommendaxion{s} designed to address the factors that may have ied to the

cotrmmission of a crime.

SOUZA BARANOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER

The Souza Baranowksi Correctional Center (SBCC) is a maximum secunty, Level 6

prison for male offenders located on 18 acres of land at the Shirley Correctional

. Complex in Shitley, Massachusetts. Officially opening on September 30, 1998, this

500,000 sq. ft., high-tech, maximum-security facility consists of 1,024 general
population cells, 128 special management cells, and 24 health service beds.

MCI CEDAR JUNCTION

MCT Cedar Junction, formally known as MC1 Walpole, 1s a maximum-security, Leve)
& prison for made offenders located in Walpole, Massachusetts. MCI Cedar Junction
alsc houses the Departmental Disciplinary Unit, or DDU.
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SPECIAL HOUSING UNITS (SHU):

The Massachusetts Department of Correction has established two protective cuslody units
within the Departrment. One imit is located af MCI Concord, and the other is located at
the Souza Baranowski Correctional Center. These units are called Special Housing Units
(SHIF's), Aninmate may be classified into one of these units after the Commissioner of
hisfher designee makes a determination that the inmate cannot be safely placed in the
general population of any state correctional facility. Once an inmate is classified mto the
SHU, he is housed there his entire sentence, unless as the resnit of the Classification
Board processes a change in status is found to be warranted, which might resuit in

placement in the general popufation, or in transfer to another institution.

~ Department of Correction staff provided a range of explanations as to hc-w; for whom,
and why a second SHU for inmates in Protective Custody status was established at the
SBCC. The Depariment’s intent was aimed at addressing concerns at MCI Cedar
Junction where a number of Level 6 inmates could no Jonger be legitimately confined in
segregation or disciplinary status, At the samc time, because they had identified enemics
they conid not be placed in the general population of a Level 6 facility. Based on the
Blaney decision and the more recently decided Haverty case, the Departinent was
chligated to provide inmates in Protective Custody status with programming simnijar to

inmnates in the general population of that same securily level.

In early November of 2002, the Commissioner ditected the establishment of a Special
Housing Unit a1 SBCC for Level 6 protective custody inmates. Some staff also thought
_that the creation of a Level 6 SHU would enhatce thelDepmnnent’s chances of gaining
~ accreditation of MCI Cedar Junction because the continued confinement of protective
custody statms inmates 2t MCI Cedar Junction would be held against them when the audic

- team from the American Cortectional Association armived at MCT Cedar Junction.

I The ACA is a worldwide organization setting accreditation standards for the correctional profession.
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MCI Concord’s SHU

MCI1 Concord’s Special Housing Unit was established in 1979, as a reselt of the court
order, in accordance with the “Blaney” decision. The SHU is located in the I-4
hdusing unit ai MCI Concozd, a Level 4 securily level. The inmate capacity in the
SHU is 60 inmates. Inmates housed in this unit eal, recreate, access ihe law libracy
and conduct other activities separaie from the general population of inmates. These
activities occur at specific times to ensure the SHU inmates bave no contact with
general pnpuluﬂnn inmates. Inmates housed in this unit go to the visiting room at the
same times as the general population inmates and are not separated by physical
barriers from the general population inmates while in the visiting room, although they
are kept as far apart as possible. They are seated in a separate row of chairs less than

ten feet away from general popnlation inmates
Sonza Baranowski Correctional Center’'s SHU

Souza Baranowski Correctional Center’s Special Housing Unit was opened on
February 0, 2003, and is a self-contained unit. The SHU is located in the J-1

housing unit and contains 64 one-man cells, two of which are handicap accessible and

' are climate controlled year round. The Souza Baranowski SHU is a Level 6 secuority

level housing unit.
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BLANEY AND HAVERTY COURT DECISIONS:

It is important to understand the impact that the Blaney and Haverty decisions have on
the Department of Correction. Throughout this investigation the panel and Investigative
Team were constantly informed of the impact of these court deciston on their ability to
house protective custody inmates. The following describes the impact of both the Blaney

and Haverty court decisions on the Massachusells Depariment of Correction.

Blaney v. Commissioger of Correction, 374 Mass. 337 (1978)

This was a case hr;:)ught in 1974 by protective custody intates at MCI Cedar Junction.
They complained that they were being confined in punitive cﬁﬂdjti{ms in Block 10, and
that they were not provided snfficiently similar or egual services to those inmates in
general population. The Supreme Judicial Court {"8JC") held thal protective custody
inmates, not guiliy ﬁf disciplinary viotations, are entitled, in principle, 1o the standard of
treatment they would receive in their ordinary classification, modified to the extent
necessitated by security measures taken on their behalf. The SIC affitmed the judgment
of the Single Justice of the SIC and a Special Master assigned to the case, both of whom
stated that "protective custedy requires {a) safe confinement, {b) some opportunity to

' associate and eat with nor dangercus prisoners, (¢} access to recreational and religions
facilities, television, radic, and books, and {d) opportunities for study, work, exercise, and
proper medical care." The Final Amended Agreement for Judgment requires that
protective custody inmates be provided at ieast five hours of "meaningful activities"”
daily, defined as "activity caleulated to pmﬁde inmates with the opportunity to
pariicipate in educational, wark;l’vmaliﬂnal, orF recreational parsuits.” The prc-‘;.risinns ol
the judgment have been incorporated in the Department Protective Custedy Units policy,
103 DOC 422,00 et seq.



Haverty et al. v. Maloney, et al., 44 Mass. 1 (2003)
Haverty, et al. vJ_Mualunem et al., 437 Mass, 737 (2002}

Haverty, et al. v. Malor: v, et al., Suffolk Sup. No. 95-3631

in Haverty, the Supreme Judicial Conrt ("SJC") held that the East Wing housiog Lnits at
MCI Cedar Junction were substantizHy similar to the former Department Segregation -
Unit (“DSU™), and consequently, prior to any inmate being housed in these restrictive
units for any more than a minitnal fime period '(da},rs, not weeks), he must be afforded a -
hearing pursuant to 103 CMR 421.00 ¢ seq. The SIC remanded the case to the Supenor
Court for implementation of the decision, At the Superior Court level, a tine frame was
established for ali inmates presently housed in the East Wing to receive a hearing
pursnant to 103 CMR 421.00. In addition, copies of all East Wing hearings, including
90-day hearings, for the first six months were forwarded to MCLS. 2

As a result of this decision, staff at MCI Cedar Junction must provide a bearing to every
inmate prior to placing him in restrictive housing in the Easi Wing. Ezch inmate mopst be
provided 72 houts notice prior to his hearing and his correctional counselor must be
available to discuss his case. At the hearing, the correctional counselor and any witnesses
requested by the counsclor or the jnmate {provided that it does not pose a threat to the
safety and security of the institution and the witness has relevant information) present
evidence regarding the inmate’s behavior. The hearing board, consisting of three
members, must then determine whether the inmate poses a “substantial threat to the
safety of others; or . . . of damaging or destroying pl:upcrt}r; or ... tothe operation of a-
state correctional facility.” 103 CMR 421.09. The decision is then reviewed by the
Assistunt Deputy Commissioner and Commissioner (or designes). Every thisty days
thereafter, each inmate must receive 2 30-day review regarding his behavior,
Furthermore, every 90 days each inmate must receive a fult subsequent hearing similar to
the first hearing. An on-going schedule must be maiantained, and each new inmate being

placed in this restrictive housing must be afforded the same protections.

7 Established in 1972, the Massachusetts Correctional Legal Services (MCLS} is stae funded to provid
civil legal services to people in Massachusetts’s prisons and fails.
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The Supreme Judicial Court, in considering appropriate relief to the piamuiff class,
declined to award earned good time credit. The Court reasoned that a.warding such
credits was contrary to the starutory language of G.L. ¢.124, §129D. Specifically, the
Court held that equitable relief "should be confined within narrow limits," and that an
award of good time as an equitable remedy should not have been fashioned solety

because no other remedy of law existed.

46



DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION INVESTIGA TIONS:

Investigations are a neoessary function of the Department of Correction. Unusual events,
crimes, escape attempts, mle violations, inmate compiaints, and staff misconduct
necessitaie the imely, tﬁamugh gathering of facts and evidence so that mformed
decisions can be made. There is, within the Department of Correction, a “Chief of
Intvestigations™ who reports direct!y to the Commissioner. This Chief of investigations is
Mark Reilly, who is a Panel meimber of this invesligative review committee. An
understanding of the means and metheds by which investigations are condncted
throughout the systein was esseniiai for the members of this Panel in crder to understand
and evatuate this imporiant function. Accordingly, Chiefl Reilly was interviewed by
George Camp, along with Detective Lieutenant William Powers and Sergeant Pau

Petrino.

During August of 2003, the Department of Corveciion had several facility-based
investigative units. These various investigative units were located both at each individual
institution and centrally out of the Commissioner’s Office. Some units were specialized
and conducted investigations that were not particular 10 any one institution or involved

outside agencies.

The various investigative units that are tasked with performing certain types of

investigations are as follows:

+ INNER PERIMETER SECURITY (IPS)

'Each facitity has an Inner Perimeter Security Teamt. The size of the team varies,
depending on the size and security leve! of the facility. The Superintendent of each
facility selects the members of the tearn. Each IPS team is led by an IPS Commander
who reports to the Director of Security in their respective facility. # IPS teams are
responsible for conducting investigations, gathering intelligence and information,

conducting searches, as well as other duties within the facility. Primarily, IPS

M The Diteclor of Security (DOS) in general is respansible for all security aspocts of the instivation, all
cotreclional staff, including IPS and the discipliniry section. The DOS reports to the Deputy
Superiniendent of Operations.
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investigates matters concerning inmate behavior, however, they can aiso investigate

matters concerning staff members.

» SUPERINTENDENT SPECIAL INVESTIGATORS (SSI)
Superintendent Special Investigators are facility-based investigators who work

directly for the Superintendeat. SSI”s conduct investigations as assigned by the
Superintendent. Most commonly, an S51 conducts investigations concerning
complaints against staff; however, it is permissible for S8T's to conduct investigations
into inmate complaints. The Superintendent then may take whatever action(s) he/stie

deemns appropriate.

« OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIVE SERVICES (OIS)

The Office of Tnvestigative Services (OIS) is the Department’s investigative unil
assigned to the Commissioner’s Office and is based in Milford, Massachusetts at the
Department’s Central Office. The person in charge of the unit reports directly to the
Cormnissioner and the unit conduets investigations, as assigned by the
Commissioner. QIS also renders assistance 1o various local, state and federal law
enforcement agencies involved in investigations tha relate to the Departmeni. The
OIS is further divided into three units. They are:

+ FUGITIVE APPREHENSION UNIT
This unit concentrates on investigating Departtnent of Correction escapees.
They work in conjunction with the Massachusetts State Police Violent
Fugitive Apprehension Squad, as well as the FBI Fugitive Task Force.

» INVESTIGATION UNIT :
This unit conducts investigations that involve departmental matters, both
crimminal and non-criminal.

« INTELLIGENCE UNIT

This unit collects, analyzes, and disseminates Security Threat Group (STG)
inteiligence for the departenent, as well as other appropriate law enforcement
agencies. Additionally, this unit maintains a central inteliigence database.
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PHYSICAL ABUSE OF INI\H[ATE GEOGHAN ON MARCH 19, 2002:

One of the primary goals of the Panel’s imvestigation was to ancover the facts about the
treatment of Inmate Geoghan during his eighteen (18) month incarceration within the
Massachuseits Department of Correction. During the initial stages of the Panel's
investigation, the guestion arose of whether or not Inmate Geoghan had been physically

_assaulted, either by other inmates or correction efficers,

As part of the Panel's investigation, Inmate Geoghan’s sister, Ms. Catherine Geoghan
was interviewed. Ms. Geoghan expressed several concemns regarding the treatment of
her brother, during his 18-month incarceration. Specifically, Ms. Geoghan stated she
believed that Correction Dfﬁcer- had slapped her brother, and his tooth had

been Joosened as a result of lhﬂ-l_:rl-::tw.

In addition, the Investigative Team interviewed numerous line and supervisory staff, and
all ﬂ:irfy-eight (38) inmates housed in the MCI Concord SHU. The inmates weré
questioned specifically aboul their knowledge regarding the treatment of Inmate Geoghan
while he was held in the SHU, as weli as the overall treatment of inmates within the anit.
These interviews yielded a variety of compiaints azbout the treatment of Inmate Geoghan
at the hands of a few correction officers, as well as a fair amount of positive comrent for
the administration and staff within the SHI.

On September 15, 2003, an inmate whose identity is known to the Panel, but who is not
identified by name i this report was interviewed, The Cooperating Inmate, whose
identity for the purposes of this repost will be reflected as Cl, expressed a fear of reptisal’
from Department of Correction officers for cooperating with this investigation. CI stated
that he was housed in the SHU J-4 for several years. He recalls that when Inmate
Geoghan arrived in the SHU he and Inmate Geoghan became friends. During CY's
interview, CI stated that in March 2002, following a visit with a famity member, he was
in the visiting room strip-search area along with Inmate Geoghan.” CI stated that he was

standing in the back room area, which is located off of the main visiting room, waiting to

% Per DOC Search Policy # 103 DOC 506, all inmates are strip-searched wpon conclusion of a visit,
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be strip-searched. CI stated that he observed Inmate Geoghan being strip-searched by
Correciion Ufﬁcer- CI stuted that he heard Officer make 1 comment
to Inmate Geoghan about “little boys”™ and that he saw Dfﬁcer. strike Inmate
(eoghan in the face. The Panel asked CIif he ever reporled this incident to anyone

" within the Dei:nartmcnt of Correction administration. CI stated that he did not. CI stated
that his fear of being singled oul by correction efficers had prevented him from officially
speaking out about the incident until this time. The Panel explained to CI that thesc
allegations woutd have to be followed up on. ClI initial response was, “T'll say I never

saw it, I really don’t want io go forward with this.”

Qver a period of several weeks, the Investigative Team continued to interview the
inmates assigned to the SHU (J-4), The Investigative Team specifically asked each
inmate if they knew of an incident involving Inmate Geoghan and a correction officer
following a visit. As aresult of these interviews, five inmates came forward and stated
that they either personally observed thal lnmate Geoghan had a red mark on his face
following a visit, or that Inmate Geoghan specifically told them that he was struck in the

face by a correction officer following a visit.

Threnghont the course of this investigation, the Department of Correction provided the
Panel with hundreds of documents, files, reports and logs which detail inmate activities,
as well as contact with Department of Comection staff. Of particular note was al‘cpnn
acbored by (S

W e Department of Correction. Tn his report, dated March 25, 2002 SN
wrote that he met with Inmate John Geoghan on 3/25/02 at 1805 hours. JK reports

that he was directed to speak with Inmate Geoghan at the request of _

— ¥n his re;:m't,- wrote, “...following an anonymous report that
{13 Inmate had been strack by 2 CO and that {2} he—

- -s reporl reflects that during his conversation with Inmate Geoghan,
he (Geoghan) explains,
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_ “ .. He gets-along with afl SHU inmates and most officers. Reported thal two
officers (whom he named) have come into his cell to make threatening staternents to him.
Reported that another officer {whose name he knows) pnached him in the face in visiting
area last Tuesday and on three prior occasions verbally asssulted him.” (Note: March 23,

2002, the date of-g' onversation with Inmate Geoghan, was a Monday,
Therefore “last Tuesday” would he Tuesday, March 19, 2002.)

n an effort to follow up un_repﬂrt, the Investigative Team began a review of
investigations that were handled by the Superintendent’s Investigator at MCI Cencord,
Serge;ant QP T Investigative Team found that on or about March 29, 2002,
Sergeant JNNSRENNI initiatcd an investigation (# C-2002-5-0022} into several
complaints filed by Inmate John Geoghan reganding his treatment by correction officers.
In an undated report filed by Serrgeant- he stated that on Aprii 1, 2002, he

_conducted an interview of Inmate John Geoghan. Inmate Geoghan stated that on or about
March 23, 2002, he believed that a Correction Officer, identified as—haﬂ
defecated and urinated in his cell. Sergeant -further reported that during this same
interview, Inmate Geoghan told him thal he had been assautted by Correction Officer

—fﬂlluwing a visit with & priest. Sergeant -wmle that Inmate Geoghan
advised him that he had received a visit on Satarday, Apeil 14, 2002 (note: interview was
conducted on April 1, 2002) from a priest, and foilowing the visit Officer was
conducting a strip-search on Inmate Geoghan in the back room of the visili.r:'g area. In the
report, Inmate Gcngﬁan stafed that Dfﬁcer-was rushing him fo remove his clethes.
Inmaie Geoghan tells Sergeant - thiat as he was handing Gfﬁcer-hls _

.underwear, Dfﬁccr-“slugged” him with a clenched fist on the right side of his face.
Inmate Geoghan stated that he twice yeiled out, “T"ve been hit.” Sergeant-wmta
that Inmate Geoghan told him that he did not report this assavit because he is terrified of
the staff. Inmate Geoghan also claims that his face was red until the next r]ay, and that he
did not seek medical attention.
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Sergeant -n:puns that on April 4, 2002, he interviewed Correction Oflicer -
-rcgarding the accusation made by Inmate John Geoghan. Officer -;tated to
Sergeant JJJiithat he bas never assaulted Inmate Geoghan during a visit. Sergeant
-furthcr reported thal Officer -Iells him that he has never had any problems
or incidents involving Inmate Geoghan, and that he can oaly remember strip-searching
Inmate Geoghan a couple of times aver the past several months without incident.
Sergcant- further reports that the date of the alleged assault {which according to

Sergeam- was March 14, 2002) was Officer Jll) day off, (note: Ofﬁcer-

tells Sergeant - that his regular scheduled days off are Friday and Saturday).

Sergeam- reports that on April 4, 2002, he interviewed Correction Officer Brian
Chin regarding Inmate Geoghan’s claim he was assauited by Dfﬁcer_
Officer Chin stﬁted to Sergeant- that he was on duty in the visiting room on March
14, 2002, but that he does not exactly remember the date that inmate Geoghan had a visit.
Sergeant -writ-:s that Officer Chin further stated that he never observed any officer

assault Inmate Geoghan while Officer Chin was on duty in the visiting room.

Sergeant JJJJ rerorts that on April 4, 2002, he interviewed Correction Officer 0
AN . i,y Inmate Geoghan's claim he was assauited by Officeyf D

following 2 visit, Officer ||| NNstat<d o Sf:rgcant- that he was working in

the visiting room on the day in qu.i:stinﬂ, which Sergeant -rep-:)rts is March 14,

2002, but that he rever observed anyone assault any inmate In his presence.

Sergcant-repuns that on April 4, 2002, he interviewed Correction Officer Edwin
Silva regarding Inmate Geoghan’s claim that he was assavlted by Office NS
following a visit. Inmate Si.l'.ura stated to Scrgeant-that he was on duaty in the visit
room on March 14, 2002, and that he recails Inmate Geoghan received a visit from his
{Geoghan’s) sister and a priest. Sergeam-repuﬂs that Officer Silva told him that
he recalis the priest ieft before Inmate Geoghan's sister, and that he did nol witness any

officer or inmate assauil Inmate Geoghan on this date.
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1n conciuding his investigative report, Sergeant -)ffcmd the following findings
regarding his investigation into Inmate John Geoghan’s claim that Qfﬁcer"
physically assaulted him. '

A Inniate John Geoghan did make the accusation that he had been assaulted

by Correction Officer {fin the visiting room on April /4, 2002
{emphasis added}.

B. Inmate Geoghan's accusation of being assaulted by Dfﬂcer_

" have been deemed unfounded due to Officer jJjjJiiJJJnot being on duty the specific
day in question coupled with inmate Geoghan's testimony of the date the incident
took place.

In an effort to decipher the many conflicting dates supplied by Scrge,anl.in his
report, the Tnvestigative Team reviewed the visiting records of both Tnmate Geoghan and
the Cooperating Inmate {CI} Lo determine the date of the alleged assauli. Additionally, the
Investigative Team reviewed the attendance records of CO _ as well as those
of the other correction oificers working in the visit room area. The Investigative Team, .
with the assistance of the Department of Correction, who since the murder of Inmate
Geoghan have been reviewing all his recorded telephone conversations in hopes of
capturing any conversations which would shed light on the incident, or further aukist in

determining the exact date in question.

After reviewing all of the above, the Investigative Team quickly determined Lhat_March
14, 2002, which Sergeant{JJjstated to be a Saturdzy (which would have been a
scheduled day off for CO |} wus actualiy a Thursday. In light of the report filed by
-the Investigative Team focused in on Tuesday, March 19, 2002 as the
most likely date of occurrence. The attendance records reflect that CO _was
in fact working in the visiting room area on Tuesday, March 19, 2002. The visiting
records reflect that on Tuesday, March 19, 2002, Inmate Geoghan received a visit al 1800

hours from a priest, later identified as — Likewise, the

visiting records show that (Cl) also received a visit at 1800 hours from his mother, which
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places him in the visiting room with Inmate Geoghan as he previously stated. A review
of Inmate Geoghan's recorded telephone conversations following this visit {3/19/02)
- revealed that Inmate Geoghan was involved in a confrontation with C’D—

during a strip-search following his visit,

The following is a portion of a transcript of a telephone conversaiion between Inmate

Geoghan and his sister, Catherine Geoghan, which occurred on March 19, 2002 ar

203 Thours {note: per DOC Inmaote Telephone Access and Use Policy 103 CMR 482,

all telephone calls are monitored/recorded, except pre-approved attorney and clergy
calls).

+

Inmaie [{8F

Catherine Geoghan (CG):

2 3

A review of the recorded teiephone conversations of Inmate Geoghan on Wednesday,

B March 20, 2002 reveals that Inmate Geoghan spoke with his sister Catherine at
approXimately 0902 hours, In this conversation, Inmate (Geoghan expounds ori his
attercation with CD-follc-wing his visit the previous evening.

The following is a portion of a Ira;mscﬁ;ut af Inmate Geoghan's telephone conversation
with his sister, Catherine, on March 20, 2002 at 0902 hours:
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A further review of Infmatc Geoghan'’s visiting records shows that on Thursday, March

21, 2002 at approximately 1300 hours, Inmate Geoghan received a visit from his sister,
.Catharine Gcnghm, Following this visit, at approximately 18135 hours, Inmate Geoghan

- ¢alls his sister at her home. In this conversation, Inmate Geoghan attempts to comfort her
regarding his digelosure to Ms. Geoghan that he had been struck by |

in the face

smmediately following his visit wit

The following is « portion of a transeript of Inmate Geoghan's telephone conversation
with kis sister, Catherine, on March 21, 2002, at 1816 hours.
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- (Operator comes on line advises one minute left to tatk )

(Inmate Geoghan call kis sister back at 1831 hours. )
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The following is a ,t;a;'nan af a transcript of a telephone call between Inmate Geoghan

und his sivier, Catherine. This capversation accm_rred on March 21, 2002 ar 1919 hours,
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In light of this information, the Investigative Team again conlacted Catherine Geoghan
via her aitomey Charles Houlihan. Ms. Geoghan stated that it was in fact during her visit
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with her hrother John on Thursday, March 21, 2002 that she learned that he had been

struck by CO - following his {[nmate Geoghan’s} visit wi!:h _un

" ‘Tuesday, March 19, 2002,

The check of the roster at MCI Concord for Tuesday, March 19, 2002 revealed that along

with CO JS CO —was alse working in the visiting room area

at approximartely 1800 hours.

On January 15, 2004, at approximately 1150 hours, the Investigative Team inferviewed
CO n the IP'S office at MCI Cl:mmrd,. Throughout the interview,
Officer S+ o5 accompanied by his union representative, Lt. Jaworski. Officer

S - =sked if he had any interaction with Inmate Geoghar. He replied that
he ence wrote Inmate Geoghan a disciplinary report for caliing him- P
clown in the visiting room. Officer _ also stated that he l‘ﬁC;EIHS beimg in the
visiting room area and that he witnessed Inmate Geoghan and Officer jJ I burr
into sach n{h;_er near the visiting room desk. At the time of this reported imcideat, the

Bepartment of Correction conducted a separate investigation.

Oificer — was asked if ke recalls any other time that Inmate Geoghan might
have claimed he was assaulted in the visit room. Officer _stated, that
although he can’t recall the date, he docs remember that Tnmate Geoghan claimed to have
been struck by Officer _in the strip-search area off of the visiting room.
Dfﬁccx— was asked 1o further explain the details surrounding this event. “
Officer _statcd that he was working in the visiting room and be was assigned
o the “stage desk” position. Officer J D »=s asked if he was the supervisor for
the area at that time. He replied that because there was no Sergeant on duty in the area, he
wonld have been the acting supervisor. foiccr—staled that at the conclusion
of Inmate Geoghan’s visit, he {Geoghan} was brought into the back room to be strip-
searched. Officer —stated that he was seated at the visiting room desk and
that he heard Inmate Geoghan yel! out, “He hit me, he hit me.” Ofticer J G
added that he heard Officer {l<spond to Inmate Geoghan, telling him to be

quite. Officer S 25 asked what, if anything, he did when he heard this
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exchange. He replied that he didn’t do anything. Dfﬁ@er-.vas asked if he
wenl into the back room area (¢ observe what was going on. He stated that he did not.

Dfﬁce:r—was asked if he had further conversation with Dfﬁcer-

regarding Inmate Geoghan’s claim he was being struck in the back room area of the
visiting room. Officer -tated that he did speak with Ofﬂcer_

sometime later and that Ofﬁmr-tﬂld Dfﬁml-ﬂlat he didn’t know what

Geoghan was talking about. Officer — was asked il he told this information to
Sergeant JJJJjj when - interviewed him on April 4, 2002. Officer

replied that he did not el Sergeant -hat he heard this exchange between Inmate
Genghén and Dfﬁcer- Officer added, “ He asked me if 1 witnessed

Geoghan gel assaulted. | told him no, He never asked me anything else.”

On Fanuary 11, 2004, at approximaiely 1220 hours, the Investigative Team returned to
MCI Concord and re-interviewed the inmate previously referred to as Cl. CI now
expressed his wiilingness {o speak with the Investigative Team, and following a brief
conversation, was asked te accompany the Investigative Team to the visiting rocm area.
Once in the visiting room arsa, CI was asked to show the Investigative Team where he
was positioned, as well as where both Gfﬁcer-and Inmate Geoghan were
standing on the evening of the assault. C] gave a detailed description of these locations

which enabled the Tnvestigative Team to make a drawing of the area.

On Ianuary 16, 2004, at approximately | 140 hours, the Investigative Team interviewed
Sergeant Harc-ld- at the Department of Correction Central Office in Mitford,
Massachusetts. Sergeant -Was previously interviewed on October 7, 2003 by the
Investigative Team, regarding his duties and responsibilities as the Superintendent’s
Investigator at MCI Concord. Conversely, the Investigative Team now wished to speak
with Sergeant -spcciﬂcal]}f regarding his investigation surrounding Inmate
Geoghan’s atlegation that he was struck by Dfﬁcer—fnllﬂwing a visit.
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In the mterview, Serge.ant -statcd that he was advised al some point thal Tnmate
Geoghan was alleging that Officer m’lad defecated in his cell, as well as
alleging that Gfficer hai struck him following a visil. The Investigative
Team explained 10 Sh the discrepancies they uncovered in his Investigation,
as well as the calendar errers which led to a greal deal of confnsian, Sergeant -
expressed remorse in failing to thoroughly investigate the matter, and stated (hat he relied
solely on the date supphied by Inmate Geoghan. He further stated that, beyond asking
Officer bif he had personally witnessed an assault on Inmate Geoghan, he

does not recall asking him any additional guestions regarding Inmate Geoghan’s claim he

was struck by Dfﬁcer_

Pring this investigation, the Investigative Team was notified that on September 10,
2003, Correction Ofticer gmiepimned MC1 Concord and resigned effective
immediately. Upon also learning that (UMMM w25 now represented by Attorncy (JIIF

-hr: Investigative Team contacted Atmmr:.}'-o arrange an interview of -
Om November 5, 2003, after repeated fziled attempts to schedule an int-:rview-

Eultimateflj-,F declined to be interviewed by the Investigative Team. A subseguent
attempt to interview— was made through his attorney on January 16, 2004,
Anomey fJJHeclined 10 have his client be interviewed.
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INVESTIGATION FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Investigation ¥Finding No. 1:
Mark Reilly stated that there was no central control of investigations. Investigations

occurring at the facility level would not necessarily be brought to the attention of the
central office. Further, there was no central repository for department investigations and

no process for centralized tracking of investigations nor procedures for guality control.

Investigation Conclusion No. 1:

The system of invcstigatiﬁns within the Department of Correction is sporadic and _
cavalier. The lack of central control and supervisory ovessight makes it impossible for

top administrators to be informed of ongoing pertinent investigations. This deprivation
of knowiedge prohibils executive manageiment from being aware of deficiencies and

taking appropriaie cormective action.

Investigation Finding Ney, 2:

Each Superintendent had wide discretion in determining the duties of their investigator,
as well as the leve] and depth of the investigations. They also maintained discretion in
the manrer in which the findings were reported. The investigations conducted by the
Special Investigators (that came to our altention) were, for the most part, initiated by
complaints by inmates against facility employees. The findings of the Special
investigator were urned over 10 the Superintendent for review and appropriate actions.
These reports remained in the sole custody of the institution and were not forwarded up

the chain-of-command to a central repository for review angd any possible action.”

Investigation Congclusion No. 2:
Uniess there were informal conversaiions between Superintendents, there was no

mechanism to share imformation about inmates and correctional employees when they
were transferred to other institutions, Similarly, if 2 Superintendent was transferred or '
retired there was no policy in place dictating that these teports are turned over o his or

her successor. The Depattment’s Central Office was unaware of the information
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developed in these investigations and even more importantly was in the dark about what,

if any, action was tuken by the Superintendent and its appropriatengss.

Investigation Finding No. 3:

The Special Investigator at MCI Concord conducted three investigations that involved
Inmate John Geoghan and Department of Correction employees. In the first instance,
Inmate Geoghan made an allegation that Comection Officer — had
defecated in his cell.

Investigation Conclusion No. 3:
The Panel found there were feces in Inmate Geoghan's cell area on March 23, 2002. The

Panel concluded, based upon the investigation that this incident was most likely
committed by an inmate(s). Interviews of several inmates revealed that there was a
widely hﬁid. belief that another inmate had placed the feces in inmate Geoghan's ceil.
Additionally, a review of Inmate Geoghan's recorded tc]tphbnf: conversations revealed
that it was always Inmate Geoghan's belief that the feces was placed in his cell area by

another inmate and not a correction officer.

An interview of the investigator (Sergeant— showed while he believed that
Inmate Geoghan was sincere in his thinking that Dfﬁc&r-was responsible for the
action, he conld not sepport his allegation with facts. Sergeant{jilillPsiated he did not
~write a disciplinﬁr}? report on Inmate Geoghan because he did not congider the compia.int

a lie.

On April 4, 2002, Officerfjjjjjjjjjconfronted Inmate Geoghan and accused him of
making false statements against himn with regard to the feces that had been found in his
cell on March 23, 2002. Inmate Geoghan repottedly denied that he had. Ufﬁcer-
then advised Inmate Geoghan he would receive a “disciplinary report for lying.” Co-
incidentally on the same day that Dfﬁcer- writes this disciplinary report

Sergeam-interviewcd Officer's Harris, Chin, JJ i anc Silva regarding the
allegation that Officer JJjjbad struck Inmate Geoghan.
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Tﬁe Panel also concludes that Officer -did admit that he had seen the feces,
However, Officer -did not immediately submit an incident repori regarding his
observations. He did submit an incident report some three weeks later, but only after
advised to do so by Investigator The failure to immediately report the incident
was a violation of departmental policy, but foicc:r‘was never reprimanded or

disciplined for his fatlnre to adhere (o the policy.

Investigarion Finding No. 4
Inmate Geoghan made a second allegation, that he had been “slugged” on the side of his

head by Correction Officer after a visit in the strip-search area of MCI
Concord. Spécial Investigator investigated this claim and after interviewing

Geoghan JJJJJland other corrections officers he determined the complaint was

“unfounded”.

Investigation Conclusion No, 4:
The Panet concluded that in fact Inmate Geoghan was physicaily assauited by Odficer

— in the strip-search area of the visiting room in MCI Concord. The results of
the Panel’s investigation into this allegation are included in the background section of

this report.

[nvestigation Finding No. 5:
Inmate Geoghan made a third allegation that he was assaulted by Correction Oificer

- in the form of a shoulder check in the MCI Concord visiting rO0Mm on
September 5, 2002 while visiting with his sistef Catberine Geoghan.

Superintendent Investigator Sergeant | A conducted an investigation into this
allegation. Sergeant-nncluded this allegation was “unfounded™ and issved
Inmate Geoghan a disciplinary report for lying.

Investigation Conclusion No. 3:
The Panel conciuded that Sergeant-invcstigatiﬂn mto this allegation was

incomplete at best. Sergeant {jlllfaited to determine if any video cameras within the

visiting room were working and might have captured the incident on tape. Further,
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Sergeant- failed to interview any non-Department of Correction staff, including

inmates, other visitors and Catherine Geoghan, who stated she witnessed the incident.

The Panel concleded that the issuance of a disciplinary report to Inmate Geoghan for this
allegstion to be completely inappropriate. Unquestionably, by all accounts Inmate
Geoghan um:i Ofﬁcer. came into contact with one ancther, Inmate Geoghan opined
that D:Fﬁcar-dclihemte]y struck him. Dfﬂcerﬁstated it was an “accidental
hump™. Sergeam_-concluded that Inmate Geng@ was lying. The difference is
clearlv a matter of perceplion and not a lie. Given the lack of any corroborating
evideﬁce, this Panel cannot make a fipal determination as o the intentionality of contact
by Officer Had the incident been investigated thoroughly at the time of the

complaint, ‘I:wé.rhaps a definitive conclusien could have been reached.

Invesiigation Finding Na. 6:
On May 13, 1999, inmate Smuiledge/Drruce, while at MCI Cedar Junction and being held

in the West Wing Segregation Unit (WWSU) wrote —
Ry | < o5 subsequent]y issred a Disciplinary Report for his

aclons.

At approximately 12:00 PM 011-1999, inmate Smiledge/Druce was escorted from
his cell and interviewed by Captain— the shift commander. The interview
was held in a private office and no one else was present. In separate interviews both
parties agreed that the reasen for the meeti_rtg was to discuss inmate Smiledge/Druce
behavior. After the interview, Inmate Smiledge/Druce was escerted back to his cell.
Inmate Snﬁlcdgm’[}m.cc refused his afternoon meal and remained in his cell with the
outer door closed so he could not be observed. Eater in the day be refused his evening
meal telling a corrections officer that he was not hungry. At approximately 5:30 PM,
inmate Snlﬂédgﬂfﬂmc:: advised the same officer that he — At the time, the
officer noted that inmate Smiledpe/Dmice had some facial injuries. He made
arrangements for inmate Smiledge/Druce 10 be interviewed by a member of —
— Following a screening, inmate Smiledge/Drnsce was escorted to the Health

Service Unit where he was held and “

&5



A review of the medical notes regarding inmate Smiledge/Diruce showed that the

observer noted “ - || I . o

Additionally, a second health worker spoke with intnate S:niladgefDmce and noted that
R < ' s ntrvie
inmate Smiledge/Diruce reported that he wanted “out of 10B m—ha

added thal was “beaten down”™ and feared for his safety.

Superintendent John Marshal ordered his Special Investigator, Sergean_
- to ook into the allegations made by inmate Smiledge/Druce that Captain

-ssaulted him on 1999 We were provided a copy of the investigative
repotl '

The Special Investigator interviewed Captain {Jjjjbut not inmate Smiledge/Druce.
Later, Inmate Smiledge/Druce was interviewed twice. A Sergeant from the IPS team
conducted the first interview on -1999, after inmate Snﬁlcdgaf[)mce nmiade
allegations that Captain - assaulted him. Another Sergeant assigned to the IPS
team held the second interview the following day. In addition the Special Investigator

" coliecled reports that were written by other corrections officers and health setvice
personne! regarding events surrounding the meeting and contacts with inmate
Smiledge/Pruce.

In brief, Captain -tatcd in his interview that he conducted the meeting alone with
inmate Smiledge/Diruce, because he didn’t want bim “putting on a show™. He said the
meeting lasted approximately two minutes and he told inmate Smiledge/Druce to stop his
racist activities and to “relax for awhile because he was going to DDU.” Captain-
stated that he yelled at inmaie Smiledge/Druce during the meeting, but, “never once laid a
hand oz him, “That’s the God’s honast iroth.”
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Inmate Smiledge/TDruce gave two statements that were slightly varied. In the first
interview he stated he was Kicked and punched by Captain -during their meeting.
When he was asked why he waited several hours to report his tnjuries, he replied that the
staff had ignored an earlier request (0 be seen by the medical staff and it wasn't until he
S ' (< -<con ncrice,
inmate Smiledge/Druce was asked how he sustained his injuries. He replied that he fell
while trying to rip etectrical wires from the wall and that he bad a seizure and fell from
the bed. The investigator said the swelling around his eyes did not appear consistent with
a fall, adding that he was aware that inmate Smiledge/Druce had complained on the
cveﬁing of May 14 that he had been assaulted by Captain' Inmate
Smiledge/Druce was asked once again if he was assaulted and he answered, “not really”.

When asked if his wounds were sell-inflicted he shrugged his shoulders.

Special Investigator Sergeant I rote a report 1o the Superintendent. In his

“executive summary” be concluded that:

“based on all facts, physical evidence, and the interview process, the following
has beent concluded: Inmate Smiledge was interviewed numerous times, and each
time his statements were inconsistent with that of previous siatements he had
given. Staff interviews were consisient with the facts obtained throughout this
investigation. Although inmate Smiiedge had inultiple injuries about his face and
body, it could not be determined if these injuries were self-inflicied or a result of a
physicai assauit by Captaiu-Thcrcfore, these allegations were determined
to be inconciusive. '

Within days of the incident, inmate Smiledge/Druce was finally transferred to the DDAJ
and he remained there for slightly over fou_r years, When it was time fn.r himtobe
released he sent letters 1o the Superintendent asking that he be sent fo the SBCC SHU as
soom as possible and not back to the West Wing Segregation Unit becanse he feared for

his safety.
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Investigation Conclusion No, 6:
The Panel finds that this investigation, like the ones cited from MC1 Concord reaches a

conclusion that is flawed becaunse it is based on an incomplete investigation. The
Superintendent’s [nvestigator interviewed one of the principles and then relied on
interviews conducled by others to draw the conclusion that there were inconsistencies in
the statements. Furthermore, the Special Investigator never spoke to medical personnel
regarding inmate Smiledge/Druce’s injutics. He didn’t ask to see if they were consistent
with a beating, nor did he inguire sbout the possibility of inmate Smiledge/Druce having
a seizure resulting in a fall. He didn’t interview the person(s} who escorted inmate
Smiledge/Drruce to and from the interview with— so he didn’t know if
injuries were incurred prior to when they were first reported several hours after hé
returned 10 the Unit. He didn’t interview corrections officials who may have been in the
area when inmate Smiledge/Dmce met with —nar did he speak with
corrections officials who came in personal contact with inmate Srrlileﬂgefﬂmce (o

determine when the injurics may have first been noticed.

The Panel found it impossible to determine exactly how Inmate Smitedge/Druce came

about his injuries. In fact we were left with more questions then answers.

This case once again highliglits the need for investigators 10 be more expenenced, better
trained, and more closely supervised so they can copducl thorough, well-developed
investigations. It also shows a lack of understanding by supervisory staff who accept

reports that contain conclusions that are not supported by facts.
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DISCIPLINARY REPORT FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Disciplinary Report Finding Nao. 1:

The issvance of Discipline reports and the reliance upon them for puniiive and corrective
measures is a necessary function of Corrections. Discipline reports document violations
of prison rules by inmates. The subscquent hearings conducted by the Discipline Board,
will decide culpahi]ity and issue sunctions necessary o modify behavior and correct any

non-compliance with acceptable prison decorum.

bt is imperalive that disciplinary reports be issued in compliatice with Depariment Policy
and Procedures. Discipline reports, when prudently issued and fairly and objectively
adjudicated, can achieve positive behavior modification. However, when disciptinary
reports are excessive or issued for relatively minor offenses on a contintious basis, the

€xact opposite results can occur.

Dhisciptinary Repert Finding No. 2: _
The MCI Concord General Post Orders concerning disciplinary reperts state, in part:

“All inmates incarcerated by the Department of Correction are governed by rules
and regulations dealing with minor infractions.. When inmates break thee rules they are
subject to disciplinary acticn. Fuformai Resolutions between the officer and the inmate
arg the preferred methed of dealing with minor infractions. When informal resolutions
are impraciical, or in cases of serious infractions, it will be necessary to write a

disciplinary report.”’

“...The Disciplinary Report form will be written using IMS and immediately forwaided
to the shift commander for investigation. The staff member writing the Diseiplinary
Report should first notify the Area Licutenant that a Disciplinary Report is being

writfen.... "
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Inimate John Geoghan received a total of 15 disciplinary reports during his incérceration
at the J-4 SHU at MC1 Concord. Inmate John Geoghan received more disciplinary reports
than any other inmale in the SHU. Eight (52%) of Geoghan's disciplinary reports were
wiitten by Officer Cosmo Bisazza from January 1, 2002 to April 1, 2003. Tt is alsa
interesting to note that Inmate Geoghan received 40 percent of all disciplinary teports
issued by S NJNIND 0 SHU inmates within this same time petiod. There isno
indication that the area Lieutenant was consulted before the issuance of any disciplinary

reporis, as required per General Post Orders.

Sergeanl| Shv:ridan,. the MCI Concord Disciplinary Hearing Officer, told investigators that
he had taken notice of the disciplinary reports issped Lo inmate Geoghan, due to both
there number and nature. Sergeant Sheridan slated that he had spoken to Dfﬁce-
about the disciplinary reports he had written against Inmate Geoghan,?® Sergeant
Sheridan stated that he toid Officer JJJJJfto “Take care of your own businegs,” —
Meaning manage your housing unit on your own without having to weite ap excessive
number of disciplinary reporls. Sergeant Sheridan informed the Investigative Team that
he thought the disciplinary reports written against Inmate Geoghan were either minor in
nature, bad reports, or just “flat cr__." Sergeant Sheridan was of the opinion that the
behavior/attitude/demeanor of Inmate Geoghan and the expectations of correclion
officers ciashed. Sergeant Sheridan described Inmate Geughan as a little old man who
didn’t bother anyone. Sergeant Sheridan went on i say that Inmeate Geoghan exhibited
no repetitive bad behavior, was no danger to staff or inmates, and was not engaged in
fighting. When the disciplinary board jearned that Inmate Geoghan was being transferred,
Officer Steve Lacrosse (MCI Concord Hearing Officer) telephoned the Director of
Classification, Karen DiNardo, and said “Don’t blame the D-Board, you do it on your
own, bul don’t blame it on Inmate Geoghan being a discipiine problem.” Officer Larosse
also stated that Inmate Geoghan received 100 many disciplinary reports as compared with

the vast majority of inmates in the SHU, and that most were for petty offenses.

2 In an interview with the Investigative Team, Officer -staie:d he did not recall this conversation.
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Members of the Investigative Team interviewed retired MCI Concord Sﬁpcrintcndant
William Coalter. Relative to disciplinary reports, Coalter stated, “There seemed 1o be an
unusual number of disciplinary reports fc-r someone that did not seem to be part of
convict cuiture. I had suspicions that officers were enforcing rules a bit too stringently.”
He opined that the publicity surrounding Inmate Geoghan and the crime that he was
convicted of might have been a causative factor in the excessive writing of disciplinary

reputts.

Deputy Superintendent of Classification at SBCC, Lois Russo, reviewed Inmate
Geoghan’s discipﬂ.na;r},f reports and stated, “When vou have sh__ tickets (disciplinary
reports} written by the same officer again and again. .. you have a problem. Instead of

pulling out the officer, they give in and send out the inmate.”

Acting Commissioner of Correciton, Kathleen Dennehy, relative to disciplinary reports
written against Inmate Geoghan stated, it hindsight, “T am troubled,” by staff versus
inmate interaction. She went on to say, “f question the quality of those disciplinary

reports written againsf Inmate Geoghan, the Superintendent (Grant) should have also.™

During an interview with MCI Concord Deputy Superintendent of Classification, Scott
Anderson he stated that he overturned the Classificalion Board’s recommendation based
in part on two disciplinary reports Geoghun received immediately folfowing his

appearance before the Classification Board,

Disciplinary Report Conclusion No. 2:
The issuances of disciplinary reports 10 lamate Geoghan were seldom in compliance with

the MCT Concord post orders. Certain correction officers were quick to issue a formal
disciplinary report, when less formal alternatives would have sufficed. Thes;a
guestionable disciplinary reporis would later serve as the stated rationale for transferring
Inmate Geoghan to SBCC.
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~ Inmate Geoghan received a disproportional number of disciplinary rcp::ﬁs, as compared
to other mmates at MCI Concord, and in particular the SHU. The reports were not
viewed as being as serious 1o the reviewers as they were {o the wrifers, and as a result the
staff responsible for conducting disciplinary hearings at MCI Concord coﬁsistcnfi}‘
réduccd the charges against Inmate Geoghan and either imposed a very minimal sanction
or pone at all. Moreover, it appears that a number of staff who were familiar with Inmate
Geoghan concluded at the lime that he was beinlg unfairly singled oul for discipline by

some of the officers in the unit.

Some siaff at MCI Concord were aware of it and reported their findings and concerns.
Supervisory and management staff at MCI Concord were aware, or shonid have been
aware, that Inmate Geoghan was being unfairly singled out and did nothing to correct the

situation.

Ininate Geoghan was 68-years old and physically not a threat or danger to either
comection officers or other inmates. The Discipline Rearing Officer’s recognized the
number and triviality of disciplinary reposts issved to Inmate Geoghan and expressed
their concems to Officer S .} others. Their expressed conceras evidently

kad no impact.

Blisciplinary Report Finding No. 3:

Relevant information is not alwa},fs. sharcd or readily avéiiahlc to the staff who are
making decisions about an inmate. For example, when Deputy Superintendent St,
Amand reviewed Inmate Geoghan’s disciplinary ceports just after February 24, 2003, he
was unaware that Inmate Geoghan was being considered for transfer to SBCC, in targe
mieasure as a resuit of those two disciplinary reports, which he determined te be less than
conserquential in terms of itnpacting Inmate Geoghan's future. n fact, 5t. Amand
indicated that he learned that Inmate Geoghan was transferred one month after the fact,
Similarly, when the Commissioner’s designee, Lori Cresey was making the decision to
transier Inmate Geoghan frosn MCI Concord to SBCC, she was unaware of most, if not
ail, of the important events in Iomate Geoghan's stay at MCI Concord. For example, she

was unaware of the “feces incident” and neither she nor any ore else in Central Office
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were aware that months eatlier an investigation report bad been written by MCI Concord

Superintendent’s I_nvestigam-and submitted ta the Superintendent.

Dhsciplinary Report Conclusion No. 3:

Ahbsent complete, current, and accurate information about inmates, staff are in an
impossible position to make informed recominendations and decisions. While much
information is being gathered and stored both electronically in the sutomaled mmate
management system (IMS) and manually in the inmate’s six-part file, that information
appears t0 be difficult to access and apply as fuiljr as it might. As a result, less thap

informed decisions may be made about inmates other than Inmate Geoghan.
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D-Reports |ssued

D-Reports 1ssued at MCi Concord
January 1, 2002 - April 1, 2003

ErERLY

- _0k .

g E ’E. ] 2' _ _ - __

R e
Staff Name

74



.. D-Reports Issued to Inmates in J4
Between January 1, 2002 to Aprit 1, 2003

Geoghan, 15, 15%

18 Inmates {1 Each}, 16,

Do - Inmate 36, 13, 17%

3 Inmates [2 Bach), 6,

- _ 8%
Inmata 6, 3, 4%
Inmate 46, 6, 8% Inmate 41, 8, 10%

Inmate 20, 10, $3%
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D-Reports Issued to Jochn Geoghan
(Between January 1, 2002 to Aprit 1, 2003)

Bisazza, 8,
52%

Wilkes, 1, 7% Haley, 2, 13%
Hill, 1, 7%

Archambault,
Durkee, 1, 7% .

i 1, 7% -
Ciccone, 1, 7%
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D-Reports Issued by Bisazza
Between Januaty 1, 2002 and Agpril 1,. 2003

Geoghan, 5,
40%

Inrmate 49, 1, 5%

Inmate 19, 1, 5%
nmate 38, 1, 5%

Inmate 12,1, 5%
lhrnate 20, 2, mate 41, 2,
109G 10%:

Inmate 36, 4,
20%
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CLASSIFICATION FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

- Classification Finding No. 1

Inmate Geoghan arrived at MCI Concord on February 21, 2002, to begin Serving aten-
year sentence for Indecent Assault on a Child Under 14.7 After an initial day or two in

- the Health Services Unit (HSE), he was placed in the SHU at MC] Concerd. Inmate
Geoghan remained here until April 1, 2003, when his transfer to the SHU at SBCC
oceurved, with the exception of three days in September of 2002, when he was placed in
the Special Management Unit (SMU) as. a resuit of a rule infraction.”®

On Febroary 20, 2003, in keeping with the department’s policy, Inmate Geoghan
appeared before a Classification Board at MCI Concord for hus regular four-month
review. Citing the “notoriety of [his} case and continned adjusunent,” the threﬁ.—memher
board unznimously voted to recommend Inmate Geoghan remain in the SHU at MCI
Concord. '

On February 21, 2003, Inmate Geoghan received a disciplinary 'II‘ﬂpﬁtt for possessing a

_ “Larﬁpered hot pot.” On the next day, February 22, 2003, ke received a second
disciptinary report for disobeying an order, lying and insolence, when he questioned an
officer in the SHU about the previons day’s ﬂi&cipiinarjr report. A hearing was held for
both disciplinary reports on February 24th at 1000 houss by the Disciplinary Hearing
Officer who, following Inmate Geoghan’s guilty plea, reduced both reperts to minor

infractions and imposed a sanction of four weeks loss of canieen privileges,

Between February 20-24, 2003, several 1wo-party conversations about Inmate Geoghan’s
siatus accurred between three senior officials at MCI Concord. These sentor officials
were Superintendent Michael Grant, Deputy Superintendent of Classification Scott

Anderson, and Director of Classification Karen DiNardo. During these conversations:

27 Inmate Geoghan received a 9-10 year sentence, with §-years to be served, The Board of Probation
indicated his Parole Eligibility date and wrap up date were both 1/16/2003.

* The SMU is any unit set apart from the rest of the institution, which is used primarily for the housing of
inmates, who are under Administrative Segregation, Protective Custody or Disciplinary Detention,
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 Superintendent Grant inguired of Director of Classification DiNardo if she had acted
on the Classification Board's recommendation per her role as [he_ Superintendent’s
Designee in reviewing the Classification Board’s recommendation.

» Superintendent Grant expressed to Depuly Superintendent for Classification
Anderson, his desire to transfer Inmate Geoghan to the SHU at SBCC.

¢ Director of Classification DiNardo tofd Deputy Superintendent for Classification
Anderson, that she would not reverse the recommendation of the Classification Board
and that beputy Superinténdcnt Anderson would have to reverse it if it were 1o be
reversed, to which Deputy Superintendent Anderson replied that he had already

- assumed the rale of “Superintendent’s Designee” and reversed the Board's

recommendation.

On Febmary 24, 2003, having reviewed the two recent disciplinar},r reports, Deputy
Superintendent for Classification Anderson, citing Inmate Geoghan’s “averall poor
adjustment in Level 4 security, [and] receipt of two additional disciplinary reports since
[his] review [by the Board]” reversed the Board‘s recommendation for Inmnate Geoghan
1o remain in the SHU at MC1 Concord and recommended to Commissioner's designee
" Cresey that Inmate Geoghan be designated Level 6 and transferred to the SHU at SBCC.
In reversing the Classification Board’s recommendarion, Deputy Superintendent

Anderson did not seek put or consult with any members of the Classification Board.

On or about February 28, 2003, Inmate Geoghan appealed Superintendeni Designes
Anderson’s recommendation to transfer him to the SHU a1 SBCC noting in his appeal
“no penalties [were] impesed with [the two recent] disciplinary repoerts [and that he was

“a] model prisoner and [had] problems with onty C.O. Bisazza and associates.” On March
24, 2003, Inmate Geoghan sent a Jetier 10 the Commissioner asking for the
Commissioner’s help in overturning the Deputy Superintendent’s recommendanon to
transfer him to the SHU at SBCC.
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On March 28, 20038, Deputy Superintendent [or Classification Anderson denied, without
explanatinn, Inmate (feoghan’s appeal to remain in the SHU at MCT Concord. On that
same day, as 1 Commissioner’s desi gnee, Acting Deputy Director of Classification
Cresey approved the wansfer of lamale Geoghan from MCI Concord te the SHU at
SBCC as a Level 6 Inmate.

On Aprit 1, 2003, Inmate (Geoghan was transferred from the SHU at MCT Concord to the
SHU at SBCC. On April 3, 2003, Lunate Geoghan's letter to the Commissioner dated
March 24, 2003, arrived in the Commissioner’s office. On June 16, 2003, Actinig Deputy
Director of Classification Cresey, in the capacity of the Commissioner’s designee denied,
without comment, Inmate Geoghan's appeal of the recommendation to transfer him to
SBCC.

Classification Conclusion No. {:
Based on extensive interviews with staff involved in the process that led to Inmate
Geoghan’s transfer, study of relevant documents and reports, and analysis of the events,

several conclusions are reached. They are:

i. Having a staff member, who makes either a classification recommendalion or a
classification decision and lhen reviews the appeal of that recommendation or
decision, negates the legitimacy and credibility of the appeals process. The appellate

precess has no merit if inmates are transferred while awaiting the outcome of an

appeal.

2. The Classification Board’s recommendation for Inmate Geoghan to remain in the
SHU at MCI Concord should have been affirmed by both the Supetintendent’s
Designee and by the Commissioner’s Designee. The relatively minor nature of the
two intervening disciplinary reports did not rise to a level to warrant increasing
Inmate Geoghan's custody level and placing him in a SHU with inmates of a higher

custody level.
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Although some of the staff that were interviewed, concluded that Inmate Geoghan's
receipt of two additional disciplinary reports immediately afier the Classification
Board recommiended he remain at MCI Concord was other than coincidental and that
it was purposeful behavior aimed at getting him transferred, it is difficult to concur
with that conclusion. 1t could have been coincidental in that the interactions between
Inmate Geoghan and the two officers in the SHU werc consistent with their hehaviors

on several earlier occasions.

. The Superintendent’s interjection of himself into the recommendation and review
pracess appears to be unusually intrusive and out of the ordinary; given what appears
10 be the normai hands-off role of the Superintendent in these processes, While some
might conclude that he was rﬁerci}r exercising the professional pre:mgatiw;e of the
Superintendent with regard te a high profile jnmate, others allude 1o the influence of
forces outside the normal process [DOC employees and/or MCOFU representatives)
that resulted in the Superintendent pushing for a recommendation to transfer Inmate
Geoghan. There is, however, no evidence that anyﬁne exerted pressure on the
Superintendent to intercede directly in the process, and lhéreaﬁ::_re it was concluded
that based on what he knew of lnmate Geoghan’s behavior at MC1 Concord, he
interjected himseif becanse he thought the new SHU at SBCC was the more
appropriate placement for Inmate Geoghan. '

. Omn the other hand, we do conclude that Superintendent Grant should not have
directed the Deputy Superintendent Anderson 10 reverse the Classification Board's
recommendation and that the Deputy Superintendent should enly have passed on the
Superintendent’s direction to the Director of Classification DiNardo and not have
designated himself as the Superintendent’s Designee, even though he had served in
this capacity on a periodic basis. Rather, Superintendent Grant and Deputy
Superintendent Anderson should have permitied the review process to proceed
nermally according 1o MCI Concord procedures and Department policy. In this
instance it would have meant that MCI Concord’s Director of Classification DiNardo
wolihl have conducted the review of the Classification Board's mcununendatihn, and

given that contemporaneously she expressed strong suppont for the Classification
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Board’s recommendation she would have concurred with it and that might have been
the end of the matter. This is because 1t would nod have gone on to the
Commissioner’s Desiznee since no change in statos was being recommendedd, At vt
point, the Superintendent could have either expressed his concerns and th{)ughts'
dircctly ter the Director of Classification, or to the Conunissioner’s Desighee, or Lo
both of them. In any event, it is difficult {o determine what impact any of those
events might have had. Bowever, it is likely that had the Superintendent exprassed -
his concerns about Inmate Geoghan’s continued presence in the SHU at MCI
Concord girectly to the Commissioner’s Designee Cresey, that those concerns would -

have been given considerable weight.

The review process that is Tollowed by the Department in making classification and
re-ciassification decisions does not provide opportunity for stafl to leamn from the
process to the extent to which they might. Absent fortnal feedback from the reviewer,
the Board merobers are left to guess at why their recommendation was reversed, As a
consequence, they learn littde from the experience, and are more likely to repeat a

pattern of thought that nins counter to policy or expectation.

Members of Classification Boards do not reccive specific and sulficient formal
“training in how 1o perform their roles and carry out their responsibilities. While the
person who Chairs the Board does receive formal Iraining and is certified to petform
this role, there is no similar requirernent for the two other members of the Board. The
" fack of formal training puts them at a disadvantage and is more likely to result in Jess

appropriate classification recommendations.

The selection of a correction officer to participate as & member of a Classification

Board is done in different ways at different times in different facilities. In some

cases, they work in the housing unit in which the inmate resides, while in other cases

they have no pﬁnr knowledge of the inmaie or his pasticular issues and sitnation, ki

difficuli to see how this iatter type of person, through no fault of hissher own, can -

contribute meaningfully to the recommendation of the Board,
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Classilication Finding No. 2:

The process used to make determinations regarding the classification of any inmate js
found in the general policies and procedures of the Department of Comection. These
muidelines are the same regardless of the nmate’s situation or their special needs. While
this type of classification process may work well in assessing and making decisions about
inmates in the general population, they are not as appropriate when addressing the needs
and concerns of inmates in calegories, such as those with mental health issues or in

protective cnstody, and administration segregation.

Classification Conclusion Mo. 2:

Due to the unique and often complex nature of the situations surrounding inmates with
protective custody needs, assessment and placement decisions need 1o be made based on

a much broader range of inmate specific information.

For example, in this case, lnmate Druce was well known by Departiment of Correction
authorities as a troubled, vielent inmate with a docwmented hate for minerities, Jews and
homosexuals. He was in prison for killing a person who was alleged to have made
homosexnal overtures to him. He was placed in a Special Housing Unit in 2 cell next to
Inmate Geoghan, a man recognized by virtnally everyone in the correctional system
becanse of his conviction for the indecent sexual assanil of a young boy and the constant

media reports of the allegations that he abused many other young men.

During our interviews, virwally everyone we spoke to, who had anything to do with the
classification of inmates, said they were surprised wheﬁ they first heard that Druce and
Geoghan were housed in the same unit. In non-segregation classifications an inmate is
assigned to a facility and the personnel who direct that instikution place him in a unit that
they deem appropriale based onr many factors including the individuals safety. In the case .
of inmates transferred 1o SHU s, they are sent there without sufficient regard or

understanding of the impact their presence may have on other inmates within the vnit. -
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One of the options available to the Deparr:ient of Correction when deciding on where a
high profile inmate should be confined is transter fo a federal, other state, or local jail. in
the case of Inmate Droce, soch consideration was done, and in fact, the decision was
made to try and place him in a pnison outside of Massachusetts. As a result, he was
transferted earty in his confinement first, to the Rhode Island Department of Corrections
and then to the New Mexico Comections Departmnent. While neither placemenl was
entirely successful, they were considered and accomplished. In Inmate Geoghan's case,
however, it appears as though an cut-of-state transfer was not considered. It might not
have been considered because of the possibility that he might have 1o return to

Massachusetts frequently fo appear in court to face additional charges.,

Classification Conclusion No. 3: |
While the final determination might have been not to pursue an out-of-state placement for
Inmate Geoghan, the acknowiedged high profile nature of his sensational case warranted,
at a minimum, serious consideration of this option. The fact that there is no evidence or
decumentation that such a placement was considered leads to the conclusion that all
reasonable and appropriate placement altematives were not thoroughly or thonghtfully
cxplored. It is not 'ir.icunceivablc, that Inmate Geoghan could have been safely confined

in another prisan system.

Classification Finding No. 4:

Inmate Druce was serving a life sentence for murder. In his twelve years of incarceration
he had prover to be an extremely difficult inmate to manage. Many correcticns officials
referred to him as a “system failare.” Findiﬁg proper housing was extrernely difficuit
because he had shown time and again that because of his racist, anti-Semitic, anti-gay
beliefs he would be distupiive (o other inmates and was likely to be assaultive. In

e i

requiring hospitalization.



Classitication Conclusion No. 4:

Inmate Drice would seem to be the type of inmate for whom the SHU at SBCC was
created, He was properly classified as a Level 6 inmate and was in need of protection
because he had a lengthy list of documented inmate enemies in the seneral population at

the Commonwealth’s two Level 6 facilities, Cedar Junction and the SBCC.

Inmate Druce created enemies wherever he went because of his personality and actions.
The same held true when he was placed io the SBCC SHU popuiation. He was involved
i a fight with another inmate in the SHU and was sentenced to fifteen days n isolation.
He was rcleased and retumed to the SHU on the day before he killed Inmate Geoghan.

The options available to the Department were very limited. While Inimate Druce might
have remained at MCT Cedar Junction for a few weeks afier his release from the DDU in
order io decompress from four years in the DDLU, whers he had been confined $o his cell
tor 23 hours a day, he would have had to been held in some sort of a restricted housing
#nit in order to keep him separated from his inmate enemies. That type of housing was
not available at MCE Cedar Junction for other than a very short duration, which meant
that had he not been transferred to SBCC when he was, he certainly would have been
transferred there shortly thereafter. Given the -:)pti-:‘}ﬁs availabie to the Department, the
SHU at SBCC was the preferred altemative. | '

Classificalion Finding No, S:

Inmate Druce never had any contact with Inmate Geeg‘han until they he was transferred
to SBCC on May 30, 2003, and based on Druce’s telephone conversations, there is also
no reason to think that he knew Inmate Geoghan was at SBCC prior 10 his arrival on the
SHU on that same day.

Neither interviews with inmates in the SBCC SHU, nor study of records and reports, nor
information from any person interviewed produced any evidence that nmate Pruce
talked with anyene about his intentions to kill Inmate Geoghan. Further, stutements
made by Inmate Diruce to law enforcement officers conducting the murder investigation

indicated that he acted solely on his own.
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Classification £ pnclusion No. 3: _
Inmate Druce -::ied on his own and there is no reason to conclude that anyone knew of
his plans 1o kill Inrnate Geoghan until afer the fact. Inmate Geoghan died as the resuli of

a tone individual’s actions.

Clagsification Finding No. 6:
While confined in the DDU, statements made by Inmate Diuce sbout his hatred of

homosexuals were docimented by the MCT Cedar Junction Chaplain in 4 memo he wrote -
on October 19, 2001, which was placed in Inmate Druce’s six-part file. Such statements
appear o be consistent with many other statements he made about harming other
individuals, incleding other inmales, and ¢ven the President of the United States. He was
certainly viewed as a person capabie of hurting and nurdering others, and in fact was in

prison as a result of a homicide.

Classification Conclusion MNo. 4:

 Clearly at the time the decision was made, everyoene involved in the process thought it
was the best aption of al} options available to them. After the fact, most Department
officials believed that it was the proper decision. Had we been involved in the decision-
making process at the time it was being discussed, we would have concurred with the
Depariment’s decision to transter Inmate Diruce 1o the SHU at SBCC. '

Classification Finding No. 7: _
In 1999, while confined to the DDU at MCI Cedar Junction, Inmate Darrin Smiledge
petitioned the Norfolk Probate Court to have his name legally chunged to Joseph Lee

Druce. He gave as a rationale that there were safely issues that necessitated him adopting .
a new narne. The request for a name change went uncontested. After the Court granted
the request, Inmate Smitedge notified Correction Administrators and he was thereafter

kaown in the comrectional system as Joseph Druce.
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Classification Conclusion No. 7

The Panel found that while an inmate has the constitational right to change his name, the
Department of Correction has to devise a way to make their personnel aware thar the
change has taken place. Furthermore, this information must be highlighted and made
promineat in all Department of Correction files (rom that day forward, so that months or

years later the informatien is still known,

In this case, when Correction Employees were interviewed about the murder of Inmate
Geoghan, the great majority of them said that when they were told that the assailant was
Inmate Druce that the name meant nothing to them, but when they learned that it was
really Inmate Smiledge they immediately recognized the name and knew of his reputation
a% 3 management problem ﬁithin the Department. They added that when they learned &t
was Darrin Smiledge they were not surprised at all because he was so well known
throughout the syst&m for his vioient and aberram behavior.
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STAFFING AND OPERATIONS FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Staffing and Operations Finding No. 1:
The daily activities of the SHU’s are based in large measure on the provisions contained

in the court’s order in Bianey. Department policy and institutional procedures and post
orders for the operation of the SHU's at both MCI Concord and SBCC liberally

incorporaied the language contained in the court’s order.

Staffing and Operations Conclusion No. 1:

While well intended in its aim to correct past practices, the overly broad provisions of the,
order placed the Department in the unenviable position of having to min the SHLJ as if it
were a general population housing unit. The very real reality is that the SEU is not just
ancther general population housing unit. It is a very special housing unit, designated for
the confinement of inmates who are at far greater risk of harm than any other group of
inmates. As such, the Department needs 1o be uble to implement procedures that take
into account the need to keep prisoner safe within the nnit itself. Specifically, group
activitics and group movement of prisoners should be limited to times when there is both

ai appropriate level of supervision and a legitimate correctional purpose for providing the

oroup activity.

staffing and Operations Finding No, 2:
Although it does not appear as though any of the officers assigned to work in the SBCC

SHU received any special orientation or training for their new assignments, at least two
correction officers wete specifically selected to work in the SHU because they had
worked together in SBCC's Admission Unit, 1.2.

Staffing and Operations Conclusion No. 2:

Because J-1 became SBCC’'s SHU, specifically designated for the confinement of
inmates in protective custody status, it required skifled and experienced staff to operate it
effectively. It was not just ancther housing anit. In mariy respects, it was more like the
Special Management 1 nit (SMU) than any other unit at SBCC. As g consequence, its

operation warranted special atiention from supervisors and managers, and its staff
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required orientation o the type of inmates to be confined in the unif and training in how

and why the unit was to be nin. The same holds true for the SHU at MCI Concord.

_ staffing and Qperations Finding No. 3:

Moreover, a few officers worked in the SBCC SHY, particularly on weekends, although
J-1 was not their regularly assigned post. This was the case on the day [Saturday, Angust
23, 2603] that Inmate Druce murdered Inmate Geoghan. O the 7:00 a.m. — 3:00 p.m.
shift that day, both officers working in J-1 were in that unit because they had “swapped”
assignments with the two officers who were assigned o work 3-1 on the shift that day. In
fact, they kad regularly “swapped” assignments, resulting in them having worked many
weekends in J-1 since it opened on February 10, 2003, The practice of “swai::-ping"
assignments i3 a regular practice both at SBCC and other Dapart.ment of Correction
institutions and is authorized and regulated in accordance with a memorandum of
understanding between the Department of Comection and MCOFU that was ratified on
January 1, 2001.

Staffing and Operations Conciusion N, 3:

One of the major benefits of “swapping™ for the officers is that it provides an officer with
four days off per week, because they can work two shifis on two days, and one shift on
the third day. On the other hand, it could also work 1o the detriment of the institution, if
the officer who replaces the regularty assigned officer is not as skilied or well trained as
the person being replaced. This situation is of particular concern if the post in question |
prﬁvides coverage in a sensitive area. In this instance, however, because both officers
had worked J-1 on regular “swap” basis, it would seem as though the two officers on duty
at the time of Inmate Geoghar’s death should have acquired sufficient experience and

knowledge in how to run the unit properly.
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Staffing and Operations Finding No. 4:

Protective Custody Units within the Department of Correction are designated as Special
Housing Units. (SH's). For a number of years the Department operated a single
protective custody unit at MCI Concord, a security level 4 facility. Inearly 2003, the
Department opened a second protective custody unit (SHUY at SBCC, a security level 6

facility.

The inmates in these units reguire protection from harm to a degree far greater than
inmates within the general pqpulatiun of prisoners. The reasons they require such
addiional protection may vary among them, bul in alt instances the Depariment has
concluded that there are valid reasons for providing additional measures o ensure their

safety.

The reasons they require protection may be because of threats that can be attributed to
specific prisoners, or staff may have concluded that there is a significant general dislike
of an inmate that could result in harm coming to him, that cannot be attributed 1o any
specific prisoner, to warrant placement in the SHU. Inmate Druce excmplifies the first

type of prisoner, while Inmate Geoghan falls into the iatter category.

The type of inmate in protective custedy status can be further characterized by custody
level. There are high custody levels (Level 6) and Jower custody levels (Level 4).

Inmate Dirnce was a Level 6 inmate, and Inmate Geoghan was a Level 4 inmale.

Applying each of these two dimenstons — custody level (high or lower} and threat (known
or unknown} — produces four types of proactive custody inmates. They are: (1) Inmates,
like Drruce, who are in the high custody classification status and who bave known
enemies; {2} there are inmates in lower custody status, with unknown enemies; (3 there |
are inmates in high cusiody status with unknown enemies; and ¢4) there are inmates, like

Inmate Geoghan, in lfower custody status with unknown enernies.
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ataffing and Operations Conclusion No. 4:

While all four types of prisonets require separation from the general population of
prisoners, care most also be given in their housing assignments to ensure that a prisoner
within an SHU is not likely to harm another prisoner in the same SHU. One way to do
this is by separating prisoners with different custody levels. I general, the higher the
classification level the more dangerous and disroptive the prisoner is. When the
Departiment created the second SHU at SBCC, a fevel 6 facility, it did so becavse it
recognized that not all inmates in need of protection were the same and that some were
very disruptive and dangerous, even though they also required protection from other
inmates. Thus, the Department created the second SHU for the confinement of level 6
inmates, while retaining the level 4 SHU at MCI Concord.

In the case of Tamate Geoghan, just priot to his transfer to SBCC, he was “labeled” a
level & inmate by Deputy Superintendent Anderson, at MCI Concord even though the
Classification Board recommended he remain a level 4 mmate. It is the Panel’s opinion
that he shorld have remained as a level 4 mmate, and as such should not have been

assigned to a level 6 SHU, where be would come in centact with leve! § inmates.

Indeed, these protective custdd},r housing units are “special” unils. They are “special”™
becanse of the unigue nature and circnmstances of the inmates assigned to them. Just as
Special Management Units (SMU's) in which the more difficult to manage inmates are
cnnﬂﬁed becaunse of their disruptive behavior demand special and uniquely taitored
procedures, so do the inmates assigned 10 the SHU's. They must be protected not only
from harm from prisoners outside the SHU, they must also be protected from harrm from
other inmates within the SHU. This important second objective is more easily met when

level 6 inmates are not mixed with level 4 inmates in a SHU.
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Staffing and Operations Finding No. 5t
Post Order 13 for Post Assignment -1 Housing Unit Officer does not specify the number

of inmates that the housing unit officer shonld let out of their célls.at one time to pick up
. their food trays before returning to their cells to eat their meals, Neither do the Post
Orders specify how many inmates should be fel oul of theit cells to return their food trays

to the food cart.

Staffing and Opergtions Conclusion No. 3:

The Jack of specificity permits more inmates to be released at one time than a single
officer can effectively observe and supervise. As a consequence, inmaies may take
advantage of this weakness to conduct rule-breaking activities undetected. Inmates in

Protective Cuslody status warrant constant supervision when not confined to their ceils.

Staffing and Operations Finding No. 6:

Two officers are assigned to J-1 the Special Housing Unit (SHU) that confines inmates in
Protective Custody status. While the Daily Shift Roster lists and assigns officers to both
a “primary” and a “secondary” post, no distinction is made in their duties and

reﬁpunsiﬁilitias. One sei of post orders is written for any officer assigned to J-1.

Siaffing and Operations Concfusion No. 6:
The lack of specific and distinct post orders for each of the two posts results in a Jack of

clarity of duty for each, leaving it ap to the individual officers to determine who is io
perform what function. Similarly, it resulis in unclear lines of authority within the unit

with regard 10 who is in charge.

f and rations Finding No. 7:
At the noon meal on August 23, 2003, in J-1, one inmate told investigators that he had

another inmate return his lunch tray from his cell to Lhe food cart.



Staffing and Qperations Conclusion No. 7:

- This practice is in violation of unit rules and is expressly prohibited in the J-1 officer's
Post Orders - Special Instructions. With just one officer in J-1 at that time, it is easy (o
seg how this type of inmate behavior could easily go undetected by the single officer

- remaining in the unit.

statfing and Operations Finding No. 8:
On August 23, 2003, after Correction Office directed the inmates to return to

their cells 1o be Jocked in after they returned their noon meal food trays, he did not,
“physically check each cel! door to ensore the r;:cll door is secured and the locking
mechanism engaged,” as prescribed in the J-T officer’s Post Orders ~ Special
Instructions. Similarly, the officer{s) failed to check the ceil doors afier the inmates were
locked in their celis to eat their noon meal. The Special Instruction Post Orders containg
a'second directive, reinforcing the importance of this practice. It prescribes thai, “You
shall make a security round of the init to observe each inmate within the unit after
tnmates are secured at the completion of any movement period.™ Rather than conducting
rounds to check on the security of the cell doors, and the weil-being of the inmates, the
officer went inte & room behind the unit officer’s station, making it impossible 16 observe

the anit itself, and difficult if not impossible to hear sounds coming from within the celis.

Staffing E_md Dﬂaﬁqns Ccmcli.xsiun Mo, 8:

This element of the post order is impertant not only jor the reason stated in the post order,
but also because it provides an important way to check on the safety and well being of
each inmate in the housing unit, This is particulaﬂy important in a housing unit in which
inmates in proiective custody status are assigned. Had rounds been made immediatety
foliowing lock-in, shortly after 1152 hours, the officer would have quickiv discovered
that Inmate Druce was in Inmate Geoghan’s cell, rather than having it called 1o his
attention at 1157 hours by the two inmates who were out of their cells, unsupervised,

cleaning up the unit after the noon meal.
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Staffing and Operattons Finding Mo, o

Ome of the two correction officers assigned to the SBCC SHU on both the 7:00 a.m. —
3:00 p.m. shift and on the 3:00 p.m. — 11:00 p.m. shift, are regularly and frequently
“pulled” from the SHU to assist other staff in supervising the movement of general
population inmates, as they move along the corridors and stairwells to and from their
housing unils to participate in activities, including meals and recreation within the prison.
[According to SBCC’'s admimistralors the practice of “pulling” officers from their
assigned .pusls has to be done because there are not enough staff available to assign -
officers on a “'normal™ basis to these areas.] Neither the general post orders for J-1 nor
the J-1 Special Instructions Post Orders provide for this task to be carried out by J-1

officers.

The practice of pulling officers from housing units for this purpose is a longstanding and
ongoing pracrice at SBCC. One officer who regularly worked in J-1 estimated that the
second officer could be gone from the unit for as long as thrén: hours per eight-hour shift.
On Augnst 23, 2003, the second officer left J-1 at approximateiy 1140 hours, leaving the
one officer in the unit with 24 inmates locked in their cells and 1wo oulside their cedls.
{See J-1 Operator Action History Log.] While the second officer was still absent from
the unit, the remaining officer let the 24 inmates out of their cells so that they could
return their food rrays to the food cart, and sign up for afiemoon activitics. The second
officer did nol return 1o J-1 until just after the jone officer in J-1 gave the call for

assistance at 1157 hours.

Staffing and Operations CGQCEQQ']DHIND. A

Two officers should always be on duty within J-1 when one or more inmates are oot of
their cells. The inmates in J-1 have been designated as requiring special attention by
virtue of their protective custody status. That includes enhanced supervision and
observation, greatey than provided for inmates within the genetal population. The size
and physical tayout of the housing unit reinforces the need for two officers 1o be on duty
when the inmates are out of their cells. Should all of the inmates be confined in their

cells, one of the officers may be temporarily and briefly detailed to assist other staff
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elsewhere in the prison. During the lime that one officer is away from the unit, the

remaining officer should constantly patrol the unit.

Staffing and Dnerauﬂns Finding No. 10:
On Angust 23, 2003, 26 inmates lived in the Special Hﬂusmg Unit {J-1) at SBCC. Before

being assigned to I-1, they were residing several different prisons, including SBCC,
where nine of the inmates were assigned to one or more of several other housing units
within SBCC. Those nine inmates had arrived from five different Massachusetts
Departmeat of Correction facilities, including MCI Concord (3), MCI Cedar Junction (2),
OCCC (1), MCI Norfotk (1), and MCI Shirley (2), They had spent anywhere from
several weeks to several years at SBCC before being assigned to I-1 afier it opened on
February 10, 2003, as the SHU for Protective Custody inmates. From a review of their
records, it was niol entirely clear as to when seven of the nine inmates wers actually
placed in J-1. Thé two inmates for whom it could be ascertained when they were placed
in J-1 vecords indicated that they were assigned on May 18, 2003, and July 23, 2003,

Of the remaining 17 inmates, seven were transferted from MCI Cedar Junction, three
from OCCC, two from BSH, three from MCI Concord, one from MCI Shirley, and one

- from a facility other than operated by the Massachusetts Department of Correction. The
first of the 17 inmates was assigned to J-1 on Febmary 12, 2003 and the last on Augnst
19, 2003,

Of the three direct-placement inmates who arrived from MCI Concord, Inmate Geoghan
was the second. He was assigned to -1 on April 1, 2003, The first inmate frorn MCI
Concord arrived on Fehruar}* 27, 2003. He had been residing in MCI Concord’s SHU in
Protective Cuslody status. The third inmate also had been residing in MCI Concord's
SHU prior to arviving at SBCC on April 28, 2003,

Tnmate Druce arrived on May 27, 2003, the fourth of the seven direct placement inmates
from MCI Cedar Junction. The first of these seven inmates arrived on Ff:bruar;-,r 14, 2603,
and the last on August 19 2003,

93



Staffing and Opcrg]jot_ls Conclusion Mo, 10:

The inmates assigned to the SHUJ at SBCC inciuded many who came from institutions
other than MCI Cedar Junction. Tt provided a placement option for inmates throughout
the Department, most of whon, iz not all of whom were Lavel 0 inmates. While the
SHU had a maximum capacily of 64 inmates, its population never exceeded 30 inmates
leading to a conclusion that the need for this tvpe of a unit was either over cstimated, or

under ilized.

Staffing and Operations Finding No, §1:
Department of Correction staff provided a range of explanations as to how, for whom,

and why a second Special Housing Unit for inmates in Proiective Custody status was
eslablished at SBCC. The Depariment’s intent was aimed at addressing concerns at MCL
Cedar Junction where a number of Level 6 inmates could no jonger be legitimately
confined in segregation or disciplinary status, but at the same time becanse they had
inmate enemies and could not be placed in the general population of a.Level 6 facility.
Based on the Blaney decision and the more recently decided Haverty case, the
Department was obligated to provide inmates in protective custody status with
programming similar to inmates in the general popuiation of that same security level, In
early November of 2002, Commissioner Michacl Maloney directed the establishment of a
Special Housing Unit at SBCC for Level 6 protective custody inmates. A memorandurm
from Deputy Commissioner Kathleen Dennehy dated Nevember 4, 2002, memorializes
the task that had been assigned to an Assistant Deputy Commissioner and a smazli team of
Central Office staff who were to be responsible for developing 2 plan to establish a
protective custody vrit at SBCC. No memeoranda or report was prepared that described
the plan or the planning process that was empioyed.

Subsequently, to guide the operation of the SHU, staff at SBCC prepared written
procedurss, based on the Department poelicy, whick, in turn, had been based on the
requirements prescribed in Blaney. SBCC Sunperintendent Ficco completed that
pmce.&uml docuinent on Fanvary 29, 2003, and submitted it to the Central Office for
review and approval, On March 13, 2003, the Disectot of the Department’s Policy
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Development and Compliance Unit (PDCU) approved the previously submitted

procedures. -

A fourteen-page sel of specific instruction post orders for comection officers wotking in
J-1 were approved by SBCC Director of Security Ed Williams on February 14, 2003,
along with a four-page schedule of J-1 activities and the tasks to be performed by
correction officers with regard to them. These post orders were placed in J-1 for
correction officers to read and acknowledge thal they had read themn each time they were

assigned to the anit.

Staffing and Operations Conclusion No, 11:
The role of the SHU at SBCC was ic provide secure confinement and appropriate

programming for Level 6 inmates. The availability of the SHU at SBCC would permil
the Department to transfer from MCI Cedar Junction Level é inmates who had completed
their disciplinary or administrative segregation, restrictive confinement periods, but who
could not placed in a general population to participate in available programming
opportunities.  As a resnli, the Department would be able to provide programming for
those inmnates in a secure setting, while also complying with the law as prescribed in both -

Blarey and Haverty,

Subsequently, several inmates were transferred from MCIT Cedar Junciion to the SHU at.
SBCC, others, including Inmaie Geoghan, arrived from other prisons. While the
ratibnaie behind the establishment of the SHU at SBCC was clear fo those who were
directly involved in its crealion, it was not as clear to other staff, in particular many
individuals at MCI Concord. MCI Concord is a Level 4 facility and the SHU within it is
therefore a Level 4 SHU — that is.., the protective custody inmates confined in it should not
and are not be classified at a level higher than Level 4. Once the Level 6 SHU at SBCC
was opened, some staff viewed it as just another SHU, identical 10 the SHU at MCI
Concord into which any inmate in need of protective custody might be placed. F{}lluwing
this line of reasoning, the population of the SHU at MCT Concord might be reduced in
nuzmber by transferring inmates laterally to the SHU at SBCC, |
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Other staff thought the SHU at SBCC was interided solely for Level 6 inmates and
therefore, quite different from the Level 4 SHU at MCI Concord. No one we interviewed
thought it was created ex. lusively for addressing the needs and requirements of Level 6
inmates solety from MCI Cedar Junction. However, it was clear that every inmate who
was to be placed in the SHU at SBCC had to be classified or re-classified as a Level 6
intiate prior to their transfer/placement. Other than the requirement that an inmate be a
Level 6 inmate, and reguired protection frm_n another mmmate(s), identifizhle or unknown,
there did nol appear to be any other transfer/placement criteria to apply in the

recommendation ang decision making process.

Staifing and Operatiops Finding Ng. 12:
The ability of siaff to open any of the cell doors in the SBCC SHU can be easily

compromised by an inmate inside a cell by an inserting object(s} in the door jam, to
prevent the door from sliding to the open position when activated electronicaily by the
officer via the louch-screen monitor. This structural flaw, in the ability to jam the cell
door was known by the inmates and correctional staff. It was the Panel’s opinion that
Inmate Druce knew he could thwart the staff’s abjlity to open Inmate Genghan’s ceil
door, should he be discovered im Inmate Geoghan’s celt before he had the oppormunity to
kill nsmate Geoghan and thus, planned his murder of Inmate Geoghan accordingly,

Staffing and Operations Conclusion No. 12:

SBCC staff were aware that inmates could prevent the cell doors from opening ai SBCC
by jamming them. The Department had taken steps to reduce the risk of adverse
consequences to such situations by fahﬁcﬁting a tool, which was used in the past to
remove objects inserted by- mmates, Since the Inmate Geoghan honzicide, the
Depaﬁmem of Correction has triaged this problem in an effort to find & solution to
prevent or limit the ability of inmates to jam the cell doors. Specifically, the SBCC
Locksmith has welded 4 plate on the upper track portion of a test ceil door, within the
SBCC SMU and it appears likely to prevent the j'amming of this area of the ce[lls doors in

the future, However, no remedy or fix has been identified for the lower track.
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The Investigative Team contacted Detection Devise Systems {DDS), the mamutacturer of
the cell doors at SBCC. DDS stated, that although they were aware of the jamming of the
cell door at SBCC relative to the Inmate Geoghan homicide, they described this incident
as isolated, noting they had no krowledge of similar incidents nationwide. DDS stated

" there are currently no recalls or recommended retrofits to the cell doors at SBCC, nor

does it appear likety for any such plans.

Normally, when an inmate locks himsel{ in his cell, it does not create a serious security
problem or a safety issue, The inmate is not going to go anywhere, and therefore, staff
nm‘mall]y have time to plan and ituplement an appropriate course of corrective action. 1t
only becomes an vrgent matter if the inmale in the cell is trying 1o harm himself or if, as
in the case of Tnmates Druce and Geoghan, an inmate other thao the one who resides in
the cell, is also in the cell to harm or kill the resident inmate. In this instance, it took
slightly mote than six rminutes to open Inmate Geoghan's cell door, using a Halligan tool,
after he had been in Inmate Geoghan's cell unnoticed by staff for approximately five and
a half minutes.

Staffing and Operations Findmg No, 13:
The Department of Correction requires that correction officers in uniform properly

display their nametags.

Staffing and Operations Conclusion No. 13:
During the covrse of this investigation, the Panel observed that correction officers at the
Souza Baranowski Correction Center consistently were in compliance with this directive.

Conversely, nametags of correction officers at MCI Concord were conspicaously absent.

Staffing and Operations Finding No. 14:
During the course of this investigation, Department of Correction Staff cooperated with

the Investigative Team complying with interview requests, except for Correction Oificer

Charles Haley, who refused to be interview.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

Discipline Reporis:

It is recornmended that the Department of Correction provide specific traming and
guidelines [or the manner that Disciplinary reports are Lo be issued. The posi order
already requires that a Lieutenant be notified when a Disciplinary report istobe -
issued. However, \#e did nﬁt see this requirement in practice. This oversight should
he made mandatory, and a necessary inclusion before the Captain signs off.

All supervisory personnel- should critically review - disciplinary reports for
compliance with post orders and make a qualitaiive assessment.

There should be a centrat repostiory for disciplinary reports so that management can
monitor any patterns that may be emerging. |

The comrection officer who issued the Disciplinary reports should be informed of the
outcome, s¢ that hefshe can benefit and tearn from this feedback.

The Departmenl of Correction shouid evaluate the role of the Disciplinary Officer,
specific to their rank, assignment and chain of command. Censideration should be
given to have ceﬁtmlized oversight of the disciplinary funcﬁun,

Special Housine Unit; Assisnment of Staff:

The Departrient of Correction should consider uniformity in the assignment of
personne! io the SHU blocks. Al the Concord SHU J-4, the assignmient is a biddable
job, while at SBCC SHU J-1, officers are assigned on the basis of administrative
selection. A Special Housing Unit by its own descriptive title suggesis special
requirements. The SHU inmates in fact do have special needs, often accompanied by
mental health issues. 1t stands to reason that Correcticn Officers chosen to manage

these inmates be specially selected, and receive speciafized training.

Staff Briefing / New Inmaies o Housing Unit:

From interviews it was learned that Correction Officers are not made aware of the
past history of inmates who arrive oa their housing unit. There is a definite benefit in
staff having knowledge of an inmate’s histoty in the Department of Correction,

Supervisory correction officers should review an inmate’s six-part folder and brief the
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Housing Unit Officers as to any special needs, requirements, or canses necessitating

extra vigilance oI care.

Investigations:

There shouid be maore supervisory oversight and guidance in the area of
investigations. More waining should be provided to all entities whose function is to
perform investigations. Best practices should be employed Complete and impartial
investigations are necessary for meaningful results. All available evidence should be
examined and preserved and ail potential witnesses should be interviewed. Auempts
should be made to corroborate all statements. When these ideals are accomplished,
then correction officers, inmates, and administraters can accept investigative
conclusions with confidence, and remedial action will be more precise and
meaningful.

All inmate complaints shiould be documented and reported to an Internat Affairs Unit
(IAUJ). This unit should be a centralized unit within the Office of Investigative -
Services (OI8). OIS shouid have functional controf and oversight of al}
invdstigatinns throughout the Department of Correction. OIS will make a
determination as to who will conduct specific investigations. A tracking number wil
be assigned by OI18 and all investigations will be returned to OIS upon completion for
final disposition. Ail complaints and investigations must be tracked and directly
supervised by OIS. OIS musl also be responsible for maintaining a database on all
inmate complaints. The database must be anatyzed for any patterns or trends.

Each investigalion needs to be complete and thorough, to include a supervisory
review and authority before conclusion.  All completed investigations must be filed
in a central location maintained by OIS, with a copy to be kept localiy. OIS should
be responsible for any dissemination of investigative files and/or information
regarding investigative files. The Department of Correction should look for best

practices when developing policy, procedures and operational manuals for all its

investigative tnits and entitics.
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The Panel recommends that the Department of Correction re-open the investigation
into the injuries sustained by Iamate Smiledge/Druce, while at WMCI Cedar Junction
on May 14, 1999. '

Cell Door at SBCC SHLU:

The Department of Correction should correct the deficiency in the design of the cell
doors in the SHU at SBCC. It is common knowledge amongst correction officers and
inmates that the tracks can be jammed to prevent the door from opening. This is
evidenced by the fact that the SBCC locksmith created specialized tools to clear the
tracks when thé:y are intentionally blocked. The manufacturer of the door should be -
compelled to fix this design flaw or, in the alternative, the Departmcﬁt of Correciion
must seek some Failsafe means 10 prevent the jamming of this track al a mirimuam in
the SHU and the SMU.

The DEpartmcnt of Comrection should explore equipment and technology that would
enhance their ability to access cetls in an expedient manner duting various

efmergencies.

Classification:

» The people involved in the Classification process need more guidance and specialized

training. The Depariment of Correction has 1o define the mission and goals of the
classification process and those invelved in the process must have & clear and
complete understanding of the system and the tole they play within i, For example,
everyone involved in the classifying of inmates needs to be unijorm in their
understarding of the difference beiween the leve! 4 and level 6 SHU's. Itis crucial
that the Depariment of Correction is consistent with their classification of all inmates.
The classifications’ appeal process needs o be more objective. The same person who
made the originat decision should not hear an appeal. An individual with a fresh
outlook and without prejudice should conduct the review. To have the same person,

who made the decision hear the appeal, runs contrary to the reason for an appeal.

s The classification process should have input from mental heaith.
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MCI Concord ST

s The location of the MCI Concord SHU (J-4) within the facility is not conducive to
segregating protective custody inmates from the general population. The mmales al
the MCT Concord SHU are exposed to general population inmates as they proceed 10
the dining ball, library, visiting room, gymnasium, and other activities, Presemly,
they share thé syme visiting room with the general population. They literally sit
within several feet of these general population ininates, These practices are
inconsistent with the purpose and definition of protective custody. Due to the

~ lisilations of the physical strucrure of the MCT Concord SHY, the Department of
Correction might consider moving the level 4 SHU to a fucility, which can afford the
protective cnstody inmates with the security they need. If the decision is not 10 move
the MCI Concord SHU, the Departenent of Correction should consider feeding thﬂ. _

protective custody inmates within their block, similar to the method used at the SBCC
SHU.

Inmates Legally Changing Names:

+ The Investigation discovered confusion with regards to Inmate Druce/Smiledge name
change. Tt is recommended that all records of inmates whose name is legally changed,
have sorme form of an alert, highlight, alarm, or other means to flag the attention of
Department of Correclion staff as to the original identity and history of the inmate.

» The Department of Correction should file legislation regarding immates changing their
-names while incarcerated. The legislation should prohibit inmates from legally

changing their names, except for religious reasons.

SBCCS
o  There should be a sta,ﬁding arder in the Special Housing Unit at SBCC that limits the

ising Unit: Limitat o Inmate Interaction;

movement of inmates during mealtime. Allowing the inmates the freedom to mill
~around for a few minutes before returning 1o their cclls would appear to be a slight
courtesy that would engender good wiil between corrections staff and the inmates.
Unfortunately, the benefit was abused and the consequences cost Inmate Geoghan his
life. Itis recommended that for the safety of the inmates and the protection of the
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correction officers, that no more than five {5) inmates, at a time be allowed outside of

iheir cells to pick-up ot retum their meal trays.

The Department of Correction Administrator’s should carefully consider the number
of inmates within the SHU’s, that are allowed out of their e¢lls at one time. The
Department should adopt and foliow an acceptabie staff to tnmate ratio, which allows

for the proper management, care, custody and control of Protective Custody inmates.

ecial Housing Units: Department Oversight: _
There should be one individual in the Department of Correction Central Office tasked
with the oversight of assigning inmates ta both Special Housing Units. This person
shontld have the right to veto transfer assignments if it appears that a move couid
endanger the health and safety of the inmate being transferred or one or more of the
inmates cusrently housed in the unit. Currently, the Superintendents of both MCI
Concord and the SBCC receive inmates to their Special Housing Units without
benefit of official input. It is doubtful that if one person were responsible for all the
Special Housing assignments they would have placed a known member of the Ar)ran
Brotherhood and outspoken enemy to minorities, Jews and Enmosnxuals, in the sanm.
unit as a person acknowledged by the Department to be a “high profile” inmate

hecause of his conviction for the sexual abuse of young males.

Correction Officer Nametags:

The Massachusetts Department of Correction Uniform Policy (103 DOC 224)
specifically addresses the procedures for the wearing of regulation vniforms for the
canks of Correction Officer L, I1, III, and Captain. In particular, section 224.01, Part 1,
Letier GG, requires the officer’s wear a “cloth embroided Velcro nametag”™. It is
recommended that the Department of Correction insnre that all employees in these
ranks are aware of this policy and conform to all of its sections. In particular, all

officers must adhere to the segment regarding the wearing of nametags.
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Bianey:

¢ The Department, through its legal counsel, shoutd seek judicial review (o the
provisions of Blaney. In the interim to the extent possible, it should modily s SHY
operational procedures to reduce the amount of contact that jnrnates in the SHU have
with one another. This Panel recognizes the importance of inmates’ rghts as

described in the Blaney decision; however the inmates’ right to be safe and secure

should prevail over all other rights.

Placemnent of Protective Custody Inmates:
¢ The Department shonld cosure that only Level 6 inmates are assigned 1o the SHLU at

SBCC and that no Level 6 inmates are assigned to the SHU at MCI Concord.

Monitoring Facility Operations:

» The Department should re-assess the manner in which it determines that individual

facilities are in compliance with policy, procedures, and posi orders.
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SBCC J-1.Interior of Cell 2 dcpicti.ng upper track, which was jammed by Inmate Druce.
Cell 2 was the cell nceupied by Inmate Jobn Geoghan.

-
|'

LTt

SBCC I-1 Intesior of Cell 2 depicting lower track which was Jjammed by Inmate Druce.
Cell 2 was the cell occupied by Tnmate John Geoghan.
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SBCC J-1 Special Housing Unit. Note the blue phones used by inmates.
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LF he Halligan tool used w open the Cell 2 door.

Essarted tools vsed to clear the fracks of jammed celi doars.
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The Correction Officers’ Podium at SBCC J-1.

was located during the assaull.

SBCC 3-1 Correction Officers” Podium. Note the room Correction Officer Lonergan
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MCI Concord Visiting Room. Note Officers” Podium in the backgronnd. Note the
SHU Inmate Visiting Area in the top left corner of the piclare.

- - =

M1 Concord Visiting Room. This row, located in front of the Officers” Podiurg,
depicts where SHU inmates sit when receiving visitors.
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Area where Inmate Geoghan was assanlted.

MCT Comeord Visiting Room Inmate Strip Search Area, Inmate Witness observed
assanlt in foreground. Inmate Geoghan assuulted in room ino background.

MCT Concord SHU I-4 Unit.
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10.
11.
12,

I3.

14.

15.

16.

DOCUMENTS REVIEWED BY GEOGHAN PANEL

DOC INCIDENT REPORTS REGARDING TNMATE GEOGHAN
HOMICIDE.

PHOTOGRAPH OF TOOLS USED TO OPEN CELL DOOR.
INMATE GEOGHAN HOMICIDE REPORT AND INTERVIEWS
CONDUCTED BY STATE POLICE ASSIGNED TO WORCESTER
COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY CONTE'S OFFICE.

REPORT OF CELL CONTENTS — DRUCE - GEOGHAN
(WORCESTER EVIDENCE).

INMATE GEOGHAN TIMELINE.
INMATE DRUCE TIMELINE.

MA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION ORGCHART.

PERSONNEL FH.ES OF XK STAFE

JANUARY 1, 2002 INMATE STATISTICS MASSACHUSETTS
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTEON

GUIDELINES FOR PLACEMENT IN LEVEL ¢ FACILITIES AN}
PROTECTIVE CUSTODY UNITES

INVESTIGATIONS NEW DATABASE PRINTOUT REPORT
STATISTICS REPORT GENERATED ON 12/4/2003

SIX PART FOLDER: INMATE DRUCE, 105£PH fJJJJJg Section 1 &
If AKA: SMILEDGE, Darrin VOL. T of V -

SIX-PART FOLDER - INMATE JOHN J. GEOGHAN W70597

08/01/03 INCIDENT REGARDING INMATE JOSEPH L.
DRUC

AGREEMENT BETWEEN MCOFU AND DOC SWAP AGREEMENT

AMERICAN CORRECTIONAL ASSOCIATION REPORT SOUZA
BARANOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER SEPTEMBER 18, 2003
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i7,
18,

9.

20,

21,
22.
23,
2

25.

26.
27,
28.

29.

30

3l

32
33,
34.
33.

36,

ANNUAL AUDIT SOUZA BARANOWSK] CDRRFCTIDN Al
CENTER OCTOBER 10, 11, AND 12, 2001

- AMERICAN CORRECTIONAL ASSOCIATION REPORT SOUZA

BARANOWSKICORRECTIONAL CENTER FEBRUARY 23, 2001
INMATE FINANCIAL TRANSACTION DRUCE, JOSEPH L W47601

INMATE DRUCE, JOSEPH L -AAL CORRESPUINDENCE
AFTER (8/23/(3.

INMATE GEOGHAN'S TELEPHONE CALL DETAIL REPORT.

INMATE DRUCE’S TELEPHONE CALL DETAIL REPORT.

CLASSIFICATION REPORT INMATE GEOGHAN, JOHN I W70597.
CLASSIFICATION REPORT INMATE JOSEPH L. DRUCE -

NIC COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT REQUEST RE:

REVIEW/EVALUATION OF CLASSIFICATION PROCESS FOR

FEMALE OFFENDERS _
103 CMR 491 _INMATE GRIEVANCE POLKCY.

BLANEY DECISION.

HAVERTY DECISION.

OVERVIEW OF THE CLASSIFICATION PROCESS AND DOC |
POLICY. ~

BARGAINING UNIT RECORDS FOR PC UNIT STAFF.

RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR DOC EMPLOYEES (BLUE
BOCK).

MEDIA FILE.

VARIOUS INMATE VISTTING RECORDS. _ -

INMATE FOSEPH DRUCE INTEL Fil.E.
AUTDIO TAPES OF INNATE GEOGHAN'S TELEPHONE CALLS.

AUDIO TAPES OF INMATE DRUCE'S TELEPHONE CALLS. _ -
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37

38,

39,

44,

41.

42,

43

45,

46.

47.

485,

49,

50.

3l

32

IPS FILES ON GEQOGHAN AND DRUCE.

DOC INMATE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FILES DN INMATES
GEOGHAN AND DRUCE.

DIANE MCGLAUGHLIN-MCLS REPORT WRITTEN 2002.

VARIOUS INMATE LETTERS OF COMPLAINT I:NDT SPECIFIC TO
GEQGHAN INVESTIGATION),

PROTECTIVE CUSTODY PLACEMENT POLICY AND SCREENING
STATEMENT.

MA DOC INTERNAL AFFAIRS POLICY (DEVELOPED AFTER
INMATE GEOGITAN HOMICIDE}.

INMATE GRIEVANCES - UNIT SBCC SHU.

SOUZA BARANOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER 08/23/2003
SHIFT ROSTER

SOUZA BARANOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER I}SI 15/03 —
08/23/03 - SHU UNIT VISITOR LOG

SOUZA BARANOWSK] CORRECTIONAL CENTER 08/15/03 -

08/23/03 - SHU UNIT ACTIVITY LOG

SOUZA BARANOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER 08/15/G3 -
08/23/03 — SHU ~ INMATE ROSTER

SOUZA BARANCOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER QUARTERLY
REPORT - 10/02 - 12/)2

SOUZA BARANOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER QUARTERLY
REPORT - 01/03 - 03/03 :

SOUZA BARANOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER ANNUAL
REPORT - FISCAL YEAR 2003 '

SOUZA BARANOWSKI CORRECTIONAL CENTER QUARTERLY
REPORT — 0103 — 09/03

103.CMR 403, INMATE PROPERTY POLICY SORZA BARANGWSKI
CORRECTIONAL CENTER
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34,

55.

56.
57.

58.
39,

ﬁﬂ..
al.
2.
63.
64.
63. |
66.
67.
68.
| 69.

70.
71.

72,

SBCC SHU STAFFING FEBRUARY 10— AUGUST 23, 2003
SBCC LABOR MANAGEMENT MEETINGS MINUTES FOR 2003,

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS CDRRESPDNDENCE RE: SBCC
PROTECTIVE CUSTODY UNITS

SBCC AND MCI-C DISCIPLINARY REPORT INFORMATION
SBCC CLASSIFICATION PROCEDURES.

DOC POLICY AND SBCC PROCEDURE ON PROTECTIVE
CUSTODY UNITS.

CORRESPONDENCE TO SUPERINTENDENT FICCG FROM PC

~ O UNIT INMATES.

SOUZA BARANOWSK]1 CORRECTIONAL CENTER POST ORDERS.
SBCC SHU UNIT FLOOR PLAN.

SBCC SHU DOOR OPERATION PRINTQUT.

' PHOTOGRAPHS OF SBCC SHU AND CONCORD SHU.

MONTHLY CLIMATE REPORTS OF SBCC AND MCI-CONCORD.
MCLCONCORD - MSTIGﬁTION #FHH2-8-022

MCI-CONCORD INVESTIGATION #2002-§-075

INMATE GRIEVANCE LOG MCL.CONCORD

MCI-CONCORD SHU UNTT LOGBOOK FOR 3/19/02.
MCI-CONCORD POST ORDERS.

CORRESPONDENCES FROM INMATE JOHN GEGGHAN TO MCI-
CONCORD STAFF.,

INMATE JOHN GEOGHAN INCIDENT AND DISCIPLINARY
REPORTS AT MCI-CONCORD.

34€1-CONCORD BOOKING AND ADMISSIONS POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES.
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73.

4.

75.

11/21/02 TNMATE [-34 DISCIPLINARY REPORT AND USE OF
FORCE. :

MCI-C} INVESTIGATION #9903,

REVIEW OF INTERVIEWS CONDUCTED.

s 44 Department of Correction Admiinistrators
s 20 Department of Correction Uniform Staff
* 46 Inmates

« 7 Civilians

VIDEOTAPES

PLACED IN HSU CEL STRIP SEARCH} INMATE DRUCE
SWALLOWING PENCILS, AND HSU OFFICERS’ STATION. (3
COPIES OF TAPE).

09/09/03 — 4:45 P.M. — INMiTE josepH DRUCE/ BEING

09/09/03 — 4:33 P M. — 5:02 PM. —INMATE JOSEPH DRUCEF
BEING ESCORTED FROM K3-01 TO HSU CELL .wn
SEARCH (2 COPIES OF TAPE).

08/23/03 — 7:10 AM. — 120 P M. - SBCC UNIT SHYU OFFICERS’

STAHGNMEGGHM, FOHN J W70597 HOMICIDE
(COPY O APSE VIDEOQ).

08/23/03 — 7:10 A M. - 1:.20 P.M. - SBCC SHU TIER CAMER
GEOGHAN, JOHN § W705%7 HOMICIDE (COPY OF TIME L .

QR/23/03 ~ 1:21 P.M. — 3:45 P.M. - SBCC SHU UNIT—

- (COPY OF TIME LAPSE}.

08/23/03 — 1:21 P.M. - 3:00 P.M. - 8BCC SHU UNIT Y

(COPY OF TIME LAPSE ).

08/23/03 — 12:04 P.M. INMATE JOSEPH DRUCE {iijJJ§ OUT OF
CELL JJESCORT TO THE HSU (TIME LAPSE )

0B/23/03 - 12200 — 1:03 P.M — SBCC SHU U'NIT—

AR ' OEC (COPY).
08/23/03 — 11:16 AM. — 12:54 P.M. ~ SBCC SHU—

GEOGHAN, JOHN J W7(397 HOMK'IDE.
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10,

11,

12

08/23/03 = 11:17 A M. — 12 3 P.M. - 8SBCC SHU‘

GEOGHAN, JOHN I W70597 HOMICIDE.
0823403 — 12221 PM. - 12:37 P.ML WC’C
SHU VIDEOQ GEOGHAN, JOHN I STDE.

03016 - MCI-CEDAR JUNCTION DOWNEY.
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CHRONOLOGY

INMATE JOHN GEOGHAN
INMATE DARRIN SMILEDGE
JOSEPH L. DRUCE
INMATE DARRIN SMILEDGE — — INMATE JOHN GEOGHAN
December 18, 1989 Mov. 1999

smiledge is convicted of First Degree Murder, Essex
Superior Court - Sentenced to life in prison and sent to
MC-Cedar Junction.

indicted on one count of Indecent ALB on Child
Under 14,

Jan. 8, 1950
DOC Classification Board recommends moved out of
state - modified and he rernzains in state.

Jan 23,2002
Transferred to Bridgewater State Hospital (BSH) for 30-
day observation.

April 25,1990
Maodification of abpve - stays at MCl-Cedar Junctlun

Churing 5 month period, receives 13 D-reports for
violent and non-viclent infractions.

Jan. 2002 ’
Following four-day trial, convicted of charge and held
at the Middlesex County Jail to await sentencing.

May 3, 19940
Transferred to MCl-Morfolk.

Mo D-reports; fair evaluations.

Feb. 21, 2002

Appears before Judge Hamlin, sentenced to %-10 vears
in state prison. Six years io serve and the balance
suspended for the remainder of his life,

Feb.21, 2002
Sem o MCl-Concard 1o begln sentence. Drdered held
in the SHU-H.

iy 30,1990
Traraferred to MCO-ConcordfSHL), Awalts out of state
transfer,

Goes an hunger strik~

Aprll 2,2002

Recetves D-report #32-0350 issued by CO Bisazza for
tying re: leces incident. Dismissed on 4/5/02 by '
Superintendent.

Sept. 7, 1990
Transferred to Bridgewater State Haspital (BSH) for
observation.

DOC tnitiates process to move him to M-
Concord/SHU.

o

June 11,2002 ’
Receives Drreport #02-0636 issued by CO Bisazza for
expired meds. Folnct guilty, 1ssued awarning.

Receives D-report #02-0638 issued by CO Brenews for
lying o a CC. Dismissed.

Sept. 27,1990
thoved to MC-NMorfolk Hospital for treatment.

Following treatment, teansferred to MCH-Conweord and
placed on Awaiting Assignment (AA} status.
Dsruptive behavior continues.

July 30, 2092
Receives D-report #02-0915 issued by CO Hill for

making three-way phone calts {21 counts}). Dismissed
after investigation.

Dec. 7, 1990
Trarsfereed to SECC ta awail oul of state placement at
A Cranston, fl.

Rationale for move is numerous enemies within

Aug. 2, 2002

Receives D-report #02-0935 issued CO Bisazza for
insolence and lying. Found guilty at hearing. Given 15
days room detention and reprimand.

Receives D-report #02-0936 issued by CO Haley for
insolence, Folnd guiity, Fiftaen day room detentien
and regprirnand.

Massachusetts' DOC system.
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CHRONOLOGY

INMATE JOHN GEOGHAN
INMATE DARRIN SMILEDGE

JOSEPH . DRUCE

INMATE DARRIN SMILEDGE —

Aug. 11,1892

feturned from Rl deemed & managerment problem,
Held in MACI-Cadar Junction on AA status, Awaits out
of stale transfer.

Decislon made and sent to MCI-Concord/SHLL

May 1993
Transferred to Old Colony Correctional Center (OCEC]
and later same day transferred to SBCC

July 6, 1994 :
Reclassification Board recommends transfer back to

" OCCC. Recommendation modified because of
onemies arid remaing at SBCC

AKA

-Aug. 9, 1994
Transferred to B5H due to

Sapt.6, 1954
Feturmed to MU-Cedar Junction. Placed in West Wing
Segregation Unit (W¥W5U).

Dec, 30,1994
Transberred to MODIS - Phase 1/5HL, due to ena2mies
fist,

Oct. 15,1995
Transferred out of state to New Mexico, Adjustment is

poar, Recelves ﬁi D-inrts o

Fzh.3, 1998
Returned to Massachusetts' custody. immediately

Following treatment, transfeired o MC)-
Concord/SHU per arders of Commissianer.

~— INMATE JOHN GEGGHAN

" Aug. 15,2002

Recelves D-report #02-1005 issued by CO Archambault
far insolence in visit room.. Found guilty. Given six
weeks loss of phone priviteges, use of canteen and loss
of visht rights,

.ﬁug. 24; 2002

Receives Dreport #02-1045 issued by CO Durkee for
medicattons [aH unattended. Found guilty and
reprimarded (no sanctions).

Sept, 6, 2002

Recelves Drreport #02-1110 issued by CO Wilkes for
lying, Recejves six weeks loss of canteen, ghone
privileges and visit rights.

Sepl. 13,2002

Receives D-report #82-1132 issued by CO Bisazza for
disabeying an arder. Found guilty, Given 14 days
room detention and 14 days loss of TW/radia,

Oct. 2, 2002

Receives D-report #02-1226 issued by CO Ciccone for
using phone during privitege restriction. Plead guifty.
Received additional fourweeks loss of phone, cantesn
and visit privileges.

Oct. 15, 2002

Undergaes a scheduled re-classification board.
Remains at MCI-Concord/SHU and approved at all
levels.

Jan. 31,2003

. Receives Dereport #02-9938 issued by 00 Bisazza for

insolence and lving. Plead quilty to tesser offense.
Given four weeks loss of cantean, suspended for 60
days.

Received C-report #03-9047 issued by Co Bisazza for
lying. Plead 1o lesser offense. Received four weeks
loss of canteen, suspended for 60 days.

Feh. 20, 2003
Undergoes re-Classification hearing. Board votes to
keep Inmate Geoghan at MC-Concord/SHU.
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CHRONOLOGY

INMATE JOHN GEOGHAN
INMATE DARRIN SMILEDGE

JOSEPH L. DRUCE

INMATE DARRIN SMILEDGE ~—

May 8, 1998

Rereives “major” D-report for-'

Concord Superintendent recommends transfer ta
Baystate Correctional Center (BCC) While awaiting

— INMATE JOHN GEOGHAN

Febh. 21,2603
Receives D-report #03-10040 issued by LO Haley for
having contraband iten and insolence. Flead guilty.

Given four weeks loss of canteen.

July 3,1998
Receives two "major” D-reports at MC-Concotd For

Feb. 22,2003

fleceives Drreport #03-10952 issued by CO Bisazza for
lying, Insvlence, and violating Department rule, Plaad
guilty to lesser offense. Given four weeks loss of
canteen, concurrent with previous D-report,

Adrnits 1o sending tetters of this nature.

Fel. 24, 2003

Deputy Superintendent Soott Anderson overrules
Geoghan's re-classification board decision of 2/20/03.
Recommends transfer to SBCC, citing excessive D-
reporis and fa:lure at Lewvel 4,

March 25,1999
Transferrad to BSH,

- March 24,2003

Writes ro Commissioner Maloney seeking assistance
re: Deputy Superintendent Anderson's transfer
recommendation.

Aprll 6, 1999
Returned 1o MO-Cedat Juriction.

Iy =

May 19,1999

As a result of the assault on 7/3/98 and activities in
January 1999, committed to DDU at MC-Cedar
Junction for a period of 48 manths. Projected release
date is 4/27/03.

Shortly after DDU placernent, Smiledge files
paperwork to formally change his name to Jasgph Lee
Druce.

While in DO, receives a number of D-reports.

Charges includ

March 28, 2003

" Deputy Superintendent Anderson is assigned to

review appeal. Choes not overiurn his own oriﬂInai
decision.

Acting Deputy Director of Classification approves
Ceputy Anderson's recommendation 1o transfer.

Appeals transfer to the Comrmissianer or designee.

Aprif 1, 2003 _
Transfarred to SBCC/SHLUL

April 15,2003

Heceives written response 1o fetter sent to
Comimisstoner dated March 24, 2DG3 Nochange in
placement _ e

T

Oct. 20071

Jung 16, 2003
Acting Deputy Director of Classification, Lort Cresey,
denies final appeal. .
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CHRONOLOGY

INMATE JOHN GEOGHAN
INMATE DARRIN SMILEDGE

JOSEPH L. DRUCE

INMATE DARRIN SMILEDGE -

Feb. 2002 .
J0C intercepts lettar, which shows Inmate
Smiledge/Dnige is i i i

— INMATE JOHN GEQGHAN

June 26, 2003
Undergoes scheduled re-classification review at SBCC.
Is adjusting well, has received no D-reports in the

previous 12-week period, while incarcerated at SBCC.
Board votes to remain at SBCC,

May 28, 2003
Transferred to SBCC/SHU.
Aug.1, 2003
~Special Management Unit (aiUL.
Aug. 22,2003

Ramoved from SMU and returned to the SHU.Cell Mo,

Aug. 23, 2003

Druce.

inmate Geoghan murdered in Cell No.‘ by Inmate
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